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			ABOUT THIS BOOK


			I never thought of writing my memoirs. I considered there were more important things to do. It was the insistence of my friend and colleague Carlos Tablada who with his irresistible tenacity convinced me to record memories of my experiences. Without him and his questioning I would never have done it. This book is the fruit of his initiative; he is the author of its conception, design, planning, structure and way to bring it to its final stage. Carlos informed me of all the above and for my part, I just gave my consent to his idea and to the way to give expression to it.


			At the beginning the venture took over six years for the first edition –to which should be added other seven years for the process of updating it and issuing a new book. This was not because of its significance but because of the scant time in the midst of our activities. My work is described in this book. That of Carlos is focused on his duties as full researcher for the Centro de Investigación de la Economía Mundial (CIEM); on his creation and development of the Ruth Casa Editorial, with dozens of books published through his highly efficient editorial work; on his writings as an author and co-author of numerous books; on the organization, development and management of the World Forum for Alternatives (WFA) website, which is produced in six languages; among various other tasks.


			These memoirs are not presented in chronological order, but rather arranged by themes generally geographical ones including occasional reflections. It is a question of providing the context in which I tried to develop analysis and theoretical reflections which have been collected in several volumes that are cited in the following chapters. I do not intend to present a new philosophy, but rather an experience of life, with personal reactions and anecdotes that help understand its meaning, leaving the task for the readers to discover the logic and make their own interpretation. My truth is presented here with no pretension of originality or infallibility. I am very well aware that each individual is an actor, the result of a context that conditions them. I have been very lucky to find myself at the crossroads of various networks of social relations. What was interesting for me in this narrative is having lived in a specific period of human history, in various places as it was unfolding: what Karl Polanyi1 called ‘The Great Transformation’. This is not enough to achieve a theoretical treatise, but it can perhaps help situations that are not very well known to come out to light at least from a particular angle. I should stress, however, that the quotes from conversations that appear in this book convey the meaning of these communications as I perceived them at the time and they are not a verbatim report. It would have been impossible to record all these words accurately.


			

				1	Karl Polanyi (Austria, 1886-Canada, 1964). He was an Economics historian. His main thesis is that economic liberalism disrupted the economy of society, which in turn allowed imposing its logic on the whole of the latter. 


			


			My experience leads me to believe that the logic of capitalism is leading humanity and the planet to destruction and that it is the paradigms of human development that need to be changed. My Christian faith has guided me in seeking the causes of injustice and in analyzing the mechanisms of appropriation of the world’s resources by a minority. This knowledge reinforced my conviction of the Christian message, its reference to the values of the kingdom of God and the transcendental dimension that gives its precious support to the emancipation and liberation of human beings. Obviously it has no monopoly in this field, but it is a contribution together with others.


			Memory is something of the past, vital for the future. I hope that this book will contribute to make this affirmation a modest part of reality.


			François Houtart


			Quito, May 6, 2017









			A life lived as intensely as possible


			In Memory of François Houtart


			Lau Kin Chi


			At the very moment when I started writing this article, at 6:30 a.m. June 8 Hong Kong time and 5:30 p.m. June 7 Quito time, I was supposed to start over skype, together with Jade Sit, a lecture on Peasant Agriculture in China. It was supposed to be the concluding session of a series of lectures with François Houtart as Chair of the National Institute of Higher Studies (I.A.E.N.) in Ecuador. This June 7 session, according to François in his May 2, 2017 email, “Will the last session of my Chair of this year be about: Is a post-capitalist paradigm possible? (Common Good of Humanity). I took as one of the possible transitions: peasant agriculture. I have given already a general view of the Chinese Revolution and the rural issues, during the various periods, but it would be very good to go further in the problem. The main questions would be the following: Peasant agriculture has been a response to the failures of collectivization and of rural capitalism. How did it work in China? How do the peasants react facing the introduction of the market in its present forms in China? Is their project a response able to be a step toward a new paradigm (a transition)?”


			François invited me to go in person to Quito to deliver the lecture, as well as to connect me to his networks in Ecuador. I had too much workin hand, and proposed a skype lecture instead, bringing in Jade as she has been much involved in the articulation of the rural reconstruction movement in China. François said he would himself be the interpreter into Spanish for our lecture given in English. Yet, François took a sudden departure. In Quito, on June 6 around 8:00 a.m., his Sri Lankan friend staying in his home for a brief visit heard the alarm clock going on non-stop in François’ room, went in and found him on his reclining chair, still. The departure was so sudden. François had a full schedule planned, which came to a painful interruption. The day before, he had meetings during the day in two universities and in the evening long discussion with two Sri Lankan friends on Sri Lankan political situation and on China’s economism. The day he departed, he had scheduled an interview with a newspaper about mining in Latin America, and the next day the Chair’s lecture. Then, on June 9, he was supposed to fly to Havana to work on the final edits of his Memoirs in Spanish and in English, which were to be completed by the end of June. His book on South-South Relations was also to come out this month.


			The publication of the English version of François’ Memoirs is sponsored by the Global University for Sustainability (Global U), of which François Houtart, Samir Amin, Immanuel Wallerstein, Joao Pedro Stedile, Lawrence Grossberg, Dai Jinhua, Wen Tiejun, Wang Hui, myself, along with 200 intellectuals from across the globe, are Founding Members. The Global U, jointly with the Monthly Review Press, will be publishing the English Memoirs of Samir Amin. François joked with me in Dakar, Senegal in December 2016 when we were together with Samir in a conference on Africa, that his Memoirs was comparable to Samir’s,in terms of length of over 500 pages, and it would be quite a task to have them translated into Chinese for the readers in China. He was modest in comparing the two Memoirs by the number of pages, and not by quality, but of course, we all know the Memoirs by the two activist-intellectual titans are of such significance in recounting their experiences as well as elaborating their thought arising from their praxis. It is my wish to have them translated into Chinese after the English edition is done, so that the Chinese people, for whom both Samir and François have a great fondness (for the revolutionary history of China, with the engagement of Chinese workers, peasants, women, youth…), can access their perspectives and their visions.


			Interaction with Chinese Intellectuals


			François came to Beijing in 2012 to give lectures at Peking University, Renmin University of China, and Tsinghua University, organized by the professors Dai Jinhua, Wen Tiejun, and Wang Hui, respectively. I assisted with interpretation to ensure the audience understand fully François’ arguments. After the visit, François wrote: “In two of them the theme was Latin America, and in Tsinghua, the crisis and the necessity for a new paradigm. The audience was made up of post-graduate students. The discussions were rich, in great measure because the three professors had developed critical thinking among the students. In all three lectures I brought up the problem of the development model and possible alternatives.”


			With Wen Tiejun, François had a lot of interactions. As François showed that peasant agriculture is not less productive than industrial agriculture, but has added value of social, cultural and ecological functions, he promoted a new philosophical approach to agriculture as a survival activity of human beings, conditioned by the renewal of rural society. He had much interest in dialogue with Wen Tiejun. They co-edited the book Peasant Agriculture in Asia (2012), which was an outcome of the bringing together of peasant intellectuals from ten countries in Asia in 2010 to Beijing to discuss their plight and alternatives. In 2013, François brought together peasant intellectuals from Latin America to conduct a similar workshop in La Paz and produced a collection in Spanish in 2014. He had wished to do the same for Africa, to be followed by a tricontinental interaction. François had also been quite involved in La Via Campesina for this reason. François was not financially affluent, but he used the award money he got from the Unesco Madensheet Singh Prize for Promoting Tolerance and Non-violence in 2009 to partially finance the two workshops in Asia and Latin America. 


			Based on this mutual concern for promoting peasant agriculture and rural reconstruction, François and Wen had a deep respect for each other. On François’ 90th birthday, Wen wrote to him, on behalf of the Chinese rural reconstruction movement:


			Professor Houtart is a world famous progressive thinker, an important teacher to social movements in emerging countries, a good friend of the people at large. He always listens with a smile to the voices from the bottom, never speaking violent words, yet able to impart strength and encouragement! 


			Since the re-initiating of China’s rural reconstruction movement in the past ten years in the new century, we have been treated to Professor Houtart’s utmost sincerity as teacher and friend. We have consistently followed the thoughts of Professor Houtart, moving with the times. Under his earnest teaching we have enhanced our exchange with emerging countries. Five years ago, we were much honored to have been able to invite the 85-year-old Professor Houtart to come and speak in China, learning at proximity the wise man’s far-sightedness and innovative thinking. We have consistently joined in the great career that Professor Houtart has given his whole life to the revival of nature and human society. During the process, the wise man, from Europe to Latin America, from Africa to Asia, has contributed every minute of his noble life to the laboring masses. We shall strive to follow his example with a hope to continue his heritage.”


			In reply, François wrote to Wen: “It has been so kind of you to take this initiative. I have been very much moved, because it represents for me a sign of deep friendship and because I have a profound admiration for your action in China.”


			François was invited as the key speaker at the Third South-South Forum for Sustainability held in Lingnan University in Hong Kong in 2016. We made a video recording of his systematic analyses of the crises today and proposals for the Common Good of Humanity. These constitute the First Series of E-Lectures produced by Global U. http://our-global-u.org/oguorg/en/5048-2/


			I took the opportunity, every time I met him, whether it was in Bali, Beijing, Brussels, Caracas, Dakar, Hanoi, Hong Kong, Madrid, Nairobi, Porto Alegre, Taipei, or Tunis, to interview him on his life story, to listen to his commentaries on world affairs, to enjoy the wisdom and wit of his observations, to hear him recount his experiences. He had lived such a rich life that there were countless stories to tell, countless reflections to make. When we met, he would bring me Belgian chocolate bars. Once from Quito, he brought me a shawl made of white alpaca wool, and I treasure it so much I have never used it. I would also bring him chocolate, as he was such a lover of chocolate and sweets! His happy laughter, when we presented him with a Belgian chocolate cake in Hong Kong, still rings in my ear. Of the books that I gave him, his favourite was the Book of Tao printed on silk. François had an open attitude towards various religions and faiths. His doctorate thesis analyzed the function of Buddhism in forming the culture and the nation of Sri Lanka.


			François wrote of me and him: “We always shared a common view in analyzing capitalism and orientations for the future, bearing in mind the pros and cons of the socialist experiences. We both felt that a renewed socialism was the path to follow, based on sound analysis and a critical commitment, but responsible in social and political construction.” In particular, we shared views on the significance of ecological concerns in our thoughts about the future, and in the World Forum for Alternatives, we had worked together specifically on issues of ecology and peasant agriculture. Which is also why, apart from co-editing Globalizing Resistance (2010), I was keen in getting François’ book Agrofuels: Big Profits, Ruined Lives and Ecological Destruction (2010) translated and published in Chinese (2011). We had our last face to face conversation in Samir’s office and home in Dakar on Dec 9, 2016. The three of us agreed on how important it was to organically incorporate the agenda about ecology in our paradigm for alternatives. 


			I was so used to this friendship with François that I felt we had been friends for life. Actually, our first encounter was in 2003, when Asian Regional Exchange for New Alternatives (ARENA) held its Congressin Penang, Malaysia. François was invited as observer. François had a band aid on his forehead. It would have been impolite to ask about it. After three days of meeting, he was to depart for the airport; I, as Co-Chair of ARENA, politely sat by him to see him off. While waiting, I asked, “What has happened to you,” pointing to his forehead. François gave his grin of humour, which I would find, in the years to come, youthful as always, notwithstanding his age. He removed the band aid, and said, “I still have the band aid for aesthetic reasons, actually this has healed, nothing serious; I bumped into a pillar in the airport because I was not looking to the front.” He was traveling with two suitcases full of books, both hands occupied, and while walking and turning around to attend to the suitcases, he bumped into a pillar. He was only 78 then. 


			In the meetings that we attended together in the subsequent years, in almost all World Social Forums, François would be bringing books and pamphlets, to sell or to distribute. Last year in Tunis, he was carrying the blue pamphlet “For the Common Good of Humanity” around. He not only wrote over 50 books, he also made an effort to bring them along and circulate them. We share this common habit of moving books around. I need not ask François if the books I brought him would be too heavy to carry home. He was always delighted to receive books.


			Father, Thinker and Militant


			As if he were to console our grief at his departure, François had written:


			Death has not been a great problem for me, a worry or a cause for fear. I see it as part of a natural series of events for everyone and I believe that its meaning is determined by the life that each person has led.  The only thing that worried me are the conditions that bring about death; in other words, whether one can live until the last moment with a certain dignity that makes it possible to be responsible for one’s end. I think that a life does not end with death and, for this reason, it is a transition, one more stage, the achievement. What the future holds after this is a great mystery about which no one can bear witness. As far as I am concerned what the future could be is a wager: perhaps it is a spiritual continuation. Whatever its form is perhaps of no importance. I have always tried to live in the present as intensely as possible and, for this reason, I do not feel that the end is something dramatic. Death is part of life and we must experience it in the same way as we have always experienced life. A trajectory of faith helps to live to the full and to have hope at the moment of death. 


			François was soft, gentle and kind, but immensely purposeful in his dedication to the cause of justice and equality. He was ordained as a priest but had not worn a clergy collar or a cross after Vatican Council II, seeing them as mere accessories to show off status. He had been professor of sociology at the Catholic University of Louvain for 32 years, and had taught or mentored statesmen, politicians, theologians, and most importantly, activists and militants. He is revered and loved as theorist and practitioner of Liberation Theology, but he has also won respect from believers in Buddhism, Islam, Taoism, Marxism, communism and other faiths, seeing that we all strive for the Common Good of Humanity. He had written dozens of books, and traveled to be with working people in the three continents, especially in Latin America.


			François’ wish, according to a friend, was to be buried by the tomb of his mother, Gudule Carton de Wiart, in Belgium. François had been greatly influenced by his mother who, after her marriage at the age of 20, gave birth to a child almost every year until there were 14. François was the first born. The family was affluent, but she was frugal, buying the cheapest bread in her area, yet she would visit and aid poor families, taking François and other children along for them to be exposed to the reality of the poor. She began to drive a car at the age of 15, and still drove an ambulance in her work for church missions in Rwanda when she was 83. She had gone to Rwanda annually for some 15 years, and only stopped when she was 85 and could no longer travel. She died at 94.


			The influence from the mother was the belief that as part of the elite in comfortable circumstances, they should have obligations and put themselves at the service of the disadvantaged. François became a missionary, and one sister worked as a nurse in a leprosy centre in Tamil Nadu, India.


			François was 78 when I first met him. Still, from his Memoirs, I can picture him in his formative years, with traits that continued in his whole life:


			At 4 or 5, his dream was to work in a locomotive factory, in order to paint cars.


			He went to secondary school, at 10, walking 2 kilometres to catch a one-hour tram ride, then walked another 10 minutes to arrive in school. He never went to primary school, being taught at home by his mother on mathematics, history, geography and French.


			At 13, he assisted his maternal grandfather, Count Henri Carton de Wiart, president of the League of Nations before WWII, and member of the Belgian parliament for over 50 years, to put up posters for election campaigns for the whole night, and accompanied him on political work, meeting various personalities.


			At 15, under German occupation of Brussels, in the tram, he used a razor to cut off the buttons and make holes in the uniforms of German officers. Only because he managed to throw away the razor and the buttons early enough that when he was taken to the office of the German military government and searched and interrogated, evidence could not be found.


			At 18, he entered the seminary at Malines, preparing himself to become a priest.He joined the Young Catholic Workers (YCW), and in subsequent years, he visited factories, went down mines, met with worker priests from France, and discovered the reality of the working class.


			At 19, he joined the resistance movement. In June 1944, his guerilla group was allocated a task to blow up a four-lane bridge which was a supply railway line for the German troops. It was two weeks after the Normandy landing and the English had bombed the other railway line from Brussels to the port of Ostend. François carried the dynamite, the wires to detonate the dynamite, and a 9 mm revolver; the group cycled 15 to 20 kilometres to the site and successfully destroyed the bridge. Only the commander and he remained at the scene to ensure the mission was done, while the guide and others had run away.


			At 24, he was ordained priest. In the next three years, he studied political and social sciences at the Catholic University of Louvain. He rode his little 125 cc motorcycle to go around for investigations in socialist municipalities and working-class neighbourhoods. Instead of dressing in a cassock with a clerical collar, he asked permission from the cardinal to dress like a peasant. He said, oddly enough the cardinal accepted, but on one condition, François was not to go to the cinema! He stayed in a centre for delinquent youth. The thesis he wrote was on the social history of Brussels and religious institutions.He showed that the Church had neglected setting up pastoral structures in working-class districts, and was biased towards bourgeois and middle-class neighbourhoods. He wanted to understand why the working class saw Christianity as an enemy.


			At 28, he got a scholarship to study in Chicago for a year. Studying Urban Sociology, he also repeated his research in every city on pastoral institutions to analyse the relationship of the church to different social sectors, understanding racial segregation in US society and closeness between the church institutions and the rich elite and government. He made a brief trip to Cuba and Haiti in 1953.


			At 29, for six months, he toured Latin America: Mexico, Guatemala, El Salvador, Nicaragua, Honduras, Costa Rica, Colombia (where he invited Camilo Torres to study in Belgium), Ecuador, Peru, Bolivia (where he went to tin and copper mines), Chile, Argentina (where he stayed for four months and taught Urban Sociology in the University of Buenos Aires), Uruguay, and Brazil (where he was shocked by the condition of the favelas.) He was exposed to the realities of discrimination and exploitation, the domination of US capitalism, the privileges enjoyed by the elite, the distance between the social classes, but he was also moved by the solidarity among the poor, and the commitment of some priests to the well being of the indigenous. François said after this journey, “I feel myself to be Latin American”. 


			With these thirty years of formation of his subjectivity, outlook, faith and personality, François was to conduct his invaluable work in Liberation Theology, teaching, and promotion of movements for the rest of his life. The irreducible sense of justice that he had fought for was his inputinto the Vatican Council II between 1958 and 1962. Liberation Theology, in his simple words, is to see the world with the eyes of the oppressed. For him, Marxist analysis is an appropriate instrument for a better understanding of society. 


			François had led an active and intense life. The roots were deeply grounded in the exposure to different realities, the familiarity with the operation of the church and the global network of progressive priests, and the elaboration of Liberation Theology and Marxism. After the age of 30, he had been active in several main arenas:


			The Vatican Council II.


			When Pope John XXIII convened the Vatican Council II in 1958-62 for new orientations to be introduced into the Church, François, with the status of peritus expert, helped produce 43 volumes of social research. He traveled widely to network with progressive cardinals and Bishops to promote an inversion of the Church pyramid for the grassroots (God’s people) to come first and the institution (hierarchy, clergy) to serve the people, for a strong link between theology and social commitment. François found that engagement in the Council enabled him to live a different church, to legitimize and actualize aspirations that he already had.


			The Academia


			Teaching and researching from 1958 onwards, François traveled to African and Asian countries, did his doctorate on religion and ideology in Sri Lanka, and after the 1970s, identifying with the poor and downtrodden of the South, he adopted Marxist method of analysis, and rebelled against the hypocrisy of the West which promoted human rights but at the same time exploited the labour and wealth of the South, using war and violence to preserve its interests. He stood on the opposition of the powerful elite of the North. He said, for him, in spite of the Inquisition, he was still a Christian; in the same vein, in spite of the crimes of the Soviet regime, he was still a socialist. Engaged in the academia, he founded the Social, Demographic and Economic Centre (SODEGEC) as part of the University of Louvain in 1962. Tricontinental Centre (CETRI), an autonomous research institute, was founded by François in 1976. The building was constructed with François’ inheritance from his father who died some years ago, with inadequate funds topped up by François’ mother who personally saw to the construction and furnishing of the institute. In 1994, CETRI started to produce a quarterly review, Alternatives Sud, which publishes writers from the South. The institute also lodged almost 400 postgraduate students from Asia, Africa and Latin America, among whom were Rafael Correa, Monsignor Lebulu, Georges Casmoussa, and numerous leaders of social movements as well as from different faiths.


			Social Movements


			Because of his many active engagements, François had been asked to serve in different capacities in relation to social and liberation movements. Just to name a few: around 1965, he was Vice President of the Belgium-Vietnam Friendship Association, supporting the Vietnamese war against US imperialism. In 1967, he assisted in the International War Crimes Tribunal where war crimes by the USA in Vietnam were heard. In 2005 he was part of the Permanent People’s Tribunal on the US embargo against Cuba.In 2012, he chaired the People’s TribunalonSri Lanka, and was part of a peace mission in Syria. In 2007, he started his first meetings with La ViaCampesina and the MST, and had worked with them from then on. In that same year, he entered into direct contact with the Zapatistas.


			With the indigenous peoples, the miners, the peasants, the displaced, François was always humble and compassionate, with utmost gentleness.  He practiced what he believed in: to see the world with the eyes of the oppressed, and to fight along with them with a firm belief in the power of the oppressed to confront gross injustices and strive for the common good of humanity.


			François was revered as a person of integrity and honesty. He was mentor or friend to quite a number of state leaders in Latin America, including Fidel Castro, Hugo Chavez, Evo Morales, and Rafael Correa. On many occasions he interacted with these leaders, but he never concealed his criticisms about what he felt was not correct. He told his Cuban friends that if they were real Marxists they could not be dogmatic; he argued with Fidel Castro on internationalism and ways to deal with dissidents. He sent to Rafael Correa reports about his findings of the problems of developmentalism and dependency in Ecuador, such as growing broccoli for export. He told me, on March 24 this year, “Today I accompanied my friend Frei Betto to the presidential palace where he received an Ecuadorian award. Rafael Correa profited of the opportunity to celebrate my birthday, with a big cake at the lunch and a kind gift (a madonna). And this in spite of my strong critics to his policy.” François had this marvel of never compromising his positions, always making his point, but gaining trust and respect because it was difficult to doubt his noble cause and his goodwill.


			The Ecuadorian Foreign Ministry stated on June 8, 2017, the second day after François’ death, “We are deeply sorry for the loss of a thinker who has devoted much of his life to the struggle for human rights and Liberation Theology. Without doubt, the great intellectuals of history are teaching throughout their lives. This is the case of Houtart, who from his space in the academy knew how to support our government and other governments in the region. Houtart will be remembered, throughout history, as a courageous propeller of the welfare of all humanity.”


			The words of Samir, the close co-procreator and co-fighter with François since the mid 1990s when they founded the World Forum for Alternatives, promoted the Other Davos and the World Social Forum, and initiated so many encounters and gatherings in Asia, Africa and Latin America, beautifully presented François on François’ 90th birthday:


			“Great great ideas do not have any procreators, they say. They germinate on the fertile ground of collective struggles. They are refinement in the open and frank debate of their actors. Great ideas are the collective inventions of mankind.


			No, the great just ideas also have procreators. Those who, a little more lucid than others, endeavor to understand the unavoidable requirements of the coherence of thought and action. Beyond this lucidity, those who persevere with courage so that the great righteous ideas become material forces that change the world.


			François is an exemplary model. From 1996 onwards, he was able to counter the invasive tide of the liberal virus and to think of the need for a World Forum that would become one of the privileged places to build the effectiveness of the resistance of the people who were victims of the system. He expressed it to Louvain la Neuve in 1996. An idea that convinced all of us. Without him the World Forum for Alternatives, founded a year later in Cairo, would probably not have been born. Without him the entry of this Forum on the stage in Davos in 1999 would probably not have been imagined. Read the Manifesto of the World Forum for Alternatives. The precision of the great just ideas that you will find there, their formulation with all the power of poetry, owe much to him.


			Let’s not say to François: thank you for all that you have done and continue to do. Let us say to him: we want to do as you do, as much as you do, as well as you do.”


			Dearest François, we want to do as you do, as much as you do, as well as you do.


			June 2017


			Postscript:


			The project to write a biography of François Houtart is completely by Carlos Tablada. Carlos Tablada Pérez published the first biography entitled El Alma en la Tierra. Memorias de François Houtart (The Soul on Earth) in August 2010, after seven years of working together with François. The current edition presented by Carlos Tablada Pérez has been revised on the basis of the first one, with extensive additions. Thanks to this initiative of Carlos Tablada Pérez, the exemplary thoughts and experiences of François can be approached. How we had wished that François himself would be present for the book launch! In sadness and with gratitude, let us celebrate François’ life lived so intensely, and let his spirit of selfless, tireless determination be always with us, inspiring us to move on with love and audacity.


			January 2018









		


		

			Reasons for this book


			François Houtart is without doubt one of the best known, most cosmopolitan, controversial and multifaceted personalities in his own country of Belgium. This highly unusual priest has spoken and acted on behalf of humankind for more than seventy years, making outstanding contributions that embrace and transcend the doctrines of his church. His constant quest for “a tool to see societies through the eyes of the oppressed” has resulted in his being at the forefront of the most progressive social projects of his times, always putting forward alternatives that promote a move towards social justice. Apart from being a fascinating personal history, the story of his productive life opens up a window on events, countries and personalities that many know only through historical texts or news reports.


			For this reason, in March 2004, I suggested to François Houtart that we start recording conversations about his life, with a view to publishing a biography. I was convinced of the value of telling the story of this long and intense life, which in its unique scope and range would bring us close to all the battles of his time. François was surprised and not very keen to talk about himself, but as the project progressed he became more enthusiastic.


			I dedicated six years to interview him, to talk to dozens of people and conduct a research of numerous documents. This was the origin of my first book on François’ biography, which I finished in August 2010; it saw the light in December that same year entitled El alma en la tierra. Memorias de François Houtart (Soul on Earth. Memoirs of François Houtart). 


			The book I am presenting comprises my first biography plus what François lived during the past seven years, with sundry notes to help you understand better his life and work as well as new enquiries and reasoning. He not only continued with the rhythm of his life but increased it with uncommon lucidity, wisdom and vitality. 


			The book reproduces –as in my first biography of François– almost word for word all the conversations that I had with François in countless long sessions: interviews during which he gave me an intimate, thorough and unusual picture of his life. Later, we continued to have discussions about the structure of the book and the selection of information to be included, while he spent considerable time revising and improving the manuscript.


			This edition of the book also includes some essential data on the personalities with who François has been in contact. It has been a gigantic task and is still incomplete, given the enormous number of people he has met, the many different places where he has worked and the immense sum of knowledge he has accumulated.


			This is the biography of a man who has allowed experience to change him, always adopting the better options, rarely clinging to preconceived ideas and always prepared to modify his position in that ecumenical spirit that characterizes him: non-sectarian, open-minded and humanist. Today this priest is a close and dear friend to thousands of people throughout the world, an obligatory point of reference in the social sciences, an expert and indispensable adviser to progressive social networks and movements, and a person whose judgements are respected by his church. As François himself says, he considers himself to be Belgian to his very marrow, as well as being Latin American when on that continent, and a brother of the peoples of Asia and Africa. He knows, however, that he can also be an unwelcome visitor in places where he seeks to correct injustice.


			After almost twenty four years of working together systematically –in ways that were sometimes contradictory but always enriching– I have never stopped learning from him. Apart from anything else, this text is a small expression of my gratitude for all that I owe him.


			Carlos Tablada Pérez


			May 6, 2017


		




		

			Part One A World Of Certainties












			CHAPTER I: Early Years. Family Origins



			One of my paternal great-grandfathers –it was about 1860– ran a fair-sized glass-works factory in Jumet, near Charleroi.1 He organized social and medical security for several hundred workers, which was very unusual in those days. Because of his advanced social views, a number of famous personalities came to visit the factory. One day, the heir to the throne –who later became King Leopold II of Belgium–2 came to visit the factory, together with Emperor Maximilian I of Mexico.3 This happened to coincide with the wedding of one of my great-grandfather’s daughters and he asked the future monarchs if they would be witnesses at the wedding. They accepted.


			

				1	Documents preserved from the 12th and 13th centuries testify to the origin of Houtart’s paternal family in the small nobility of glaziers. Around 1860, one of his paternal great-grandfathers ran a rather large glass factory in Jumet, near Charleroi. Due to the avant-garde nature of the factory from the social point of view, various personalities were invited to visit it. One day the crown prince –who would later become King Leopold II of Belgium– and the future Emperor Maximilian I of Mexico visited there; this coincided with the wedding of one of the daughters of my great-grandfather, and the future monarchs were asked to act as witnesses of the marriage ceremony, a request which was accepted.


				

					2	Leopold II of Belgium (1835-1909), king of the Belgians from 1865. He was sovereign of the Independent State of the Congo (1884-1908). He was succeeded by his nephew Alberto.


					

						3	Fernand Maximilian Joseph of Habsburg-Lorraine (1832-1867) was an Austrian noble who married Charlotte Amelia of Belgium, daughter of Leopold I of Belgium. He accepted to become Emperor Maximilian I of Mexico in 1864. He was executed in 1867.


					


				


			


			I never knew my paternal grandparents because they died in Brussels before I was born. They formed part of a family that was very active in industry in general and, because of the family tradition, especially in glassmaking,4 which in the 19th century was one of the most important industries in Belgium. They had two other sons, Albert and Francis, as well as my father. The latter administered his property and particularly that of his wife’s, daughter of a rich notary from the south of the country. My uncle, Albert Houtart, was a judge and governor of Brabant province and he had to play a very difficult role during the Second World War.


			

				4	There are documents going back to the 12th and 13th centuries that show the origin of my father’s family in the small glassworks nobility.


			


			My mother’s family was called Carton de Wiart. They were originally from the Ath region in Wallonia but like my father’s family they moved to Brussels in the 19th century. My mother’s father, Count HenrI Carton de Wiart, dedicated his life to politics and literature. He became a lawyer and also studied legal medicine at the University of Brussels. He became involved in politics in the Catholic Party at a very young age. In spite of the rather conservative character of the Catholic Party, he was one of the founders of its Christian Democrat wing. He was a member of the Belgian parliament for more than fifty years and during the First World War he was the Minister of Justice in his country’s government in exile. Before the Second World War, he was the President of the League of Nations at the time when Italy was expelled because of its war against Ethiopia and he also served as president of the Inter-Parliamentary Union. He became prime minister and after World War I, he was made Minister of Justice. In 1911, already in office, he promoted a law for the social protection of minors, which was famous at the time. He was the author of several novels especially historical ones. He wrote a book about Liège, entitled La Cité Ardente, which gave rise to the name by which this city is still known. He was a member of the Academie de la Philosophie et des Lettres in Paris and was friends with many of the most famous French writers of that epoch, like Paul Claudel5 and Léon Bloy.6


			

				5	Paul Louis Charles Claudel (1868-1955), French diplomat in China and in various European countries, his last mission being to Brussels in 1933. He was a poet and the author of various theatrical works.


				

					6	Léon Bloy (1846-1917). French novelist and essayist.


				


			


			I had a wonderful relationship with my grandfather. I was his first grandson and his godson too. I was soon involved in them. As he was very active in politics before the Second World War, when I was only 13 or 14 years old, I was putting up posters in the election campaigns. Once, in one of his campaigns I spent the whole night sticking them up in the town where we were then living. In what was called the Phoney War, when I was 15, my grandfather had to attend a meeting of the Inter-Parliamentary Union in Lugano, Switzerland and he took me to keep him company. I did not attend all the debates, but I went to the receptions. It was there that I had the extraordinary experience of meeting politicians from various countries. When we came back through Paris, the Belgian government designated my grandfather to be its official representative at the funeral of Admiral Ronarch,7 a hero of the First World War. I participated with him in a national ceremony at Les Invalides. Naturally, all this had a great impact on me.


			

				7	Admiral Pierre Alexis Ronarch (1865-1940), of the French armed forces, played a key role in protecting the Belgian army at the beginning of the 1914-1918 war, enabling it to remain in part of the national territory in Yzer.


			


			My grandfather on my mother’s side had several brothers. One of them (René) lived in Egypt and he dedicated himself to modernizing the law in that country. He acted as a judge and was called bey, an Arab title of nobility. Another of his brothers (Maurice) was a priest and he practised his ministry in England, at a time when the Catholics were extremely marginalized. He became vicar-general of the London diocese and held it until his death. Edmond, the third brother, was the private secretary of King Leopold II during the colonization of the Congo. As a financier, he then became the head of the Société Générale the most important bank in Belgium at that time.


			My mother’s family always had contacts with the royal family. My great uncle, as secretary of Leopold II, and my grandfather, because of his governmental position, had very good relations with King Albert I.8 It so happened that the king died in an accident in the mountains near Namur, just in front of the property of my great uncle Edmond, so that it was he who was the first to come and recover his body.


			

				8	Albert I of Belgium (1875-1934). He took the throne on the death of his uncle Leopold in 1909. His successor was his son Leopold II of Belgium.


			


			My maternal grandmother was called Juliette Verhaegen. She was the niece of Théodor Verhaegen, the founder of the Free University of Brussels, created in 1834 against the Catholic University of Louvain. He was an anticlerical man, although religious. She was orphaned very young and educated in Ghent, in the Flemish part of the country, with her uncle, one of the founders of the Christian Workers Movement in this region. At that time at least –the end of the 19th century– intellectuals played an important role in guiding the worker’s unions. My grandmother dedicated herself to social work and she also had a lot of contact with artistic circles. Each week intellectual and creative artists would meet in her salon. During the First World War, she remained in Brussels while my grandfather stayed in France with the Belgian government in exile. She acted as liaison between that government and the activists inside Belgium, but not for long; the Germans discovered what she was doing and imprisoned her in Berlin. She was in the same prison as Rosa Luxemburg. I only learnt about this after her death so I was never able to ask her about their contacts with each other. All that I know is that to call to one another they would whistle the tune of the International. But they were in prison for very different reasons: my grandmother, a future countess, because of her Belgian nationalism against the German occupation; Rosa Luxemburg,9 a Marxist intellectual, because of her commitment to socialism.


			

				9	Rosa Luxemburg (1871-1919). Was born in Poland and she adopted German nationality. She happened to be in prison at the same time as Juliette Verhaegen because she participated in a pacifist campaign against the war in 1915. She was against the integration of the working class into capitalist society as promoted by the Social Democrat Party and also against Lenin for his lack of democracy.


			


			My father, Paul Houtart, was born in Brussels in 1884. Before the First World War, he lived on his rents. He had horses and entered them into competitions and races. During the conflict he was a volunteer in the trench artillery –but always on Belgian territory. When the war ended, he was an administrator in the steel and other industries. The conflict had delayed his life plans. He was around 40 years old when he married my mother, who was 20. He died at the age of 82.


			My mother, Gudule Carton de Wiart, was born in 1904. Since she was a girl she was full of life –and also worries. During the exile of her family in France, the Belgian cabinet would meet in her house and she would take up her position in a corner from which she could see and hear the discussions. Once, when she was playing as usual with other children on a little hill –in the region of Le Havre, close to the coast– she slipped and fell 30 metres. A small tree saved her life. She began to drive cars when she was 15 years and at 83 years of age she still drove an ambulance in her work for the church missions in Rwanda.


			My parents married in 1924. A child was born almost every year, until there were 14 of us. I remember that my mother said that the only time when she could rest a little was when she was in the clinic to have another baby; but in fact she never complained. Even though we had some servants in the house, she worked hard, cooking for everyone and looking after our education. In spite of all these domestic chores, she continued to be interested in social work.


			Her strong sense of social ethics kept her going. For a long time she would walk to the Aldi10 to buy the cheapest bread in her area. When we suggested getting air conditioning because she had respiratory problems, she would never accept, saying that it was too expensive. She managed her money carefully in order to save for projects that were worthwhile. For 30 years she was a member of the San Vicente de Paul Conference11 and also took part in weekly meetings of spiritual dialogue. She visited and aided poor families, taking us with her so that we became aware of this reality. 


			

				10	Commercial centre belonging to the Aldi group, a chain of discount supermarkets. When it started it was considered as a cheap shop and better-off families would not frequent it.


				

					11	Groups of people concerned with aiding the poor, guided by San Vicente de Paul, a Franciscan priest (1581-1660).


				


			


			My mother was very open to religious social thinking, which she inherited from her parents who were both socially and politically committed and, at the same time, very Christian. She aroused our interest in the missions in Africa and Asia, the life of the Church, etc., which she never abandoned. She supported my sister Godelieve when she went to work as a nurse in a leprosy centre in Tamil Nadu, in India.12 My mother went to visit her and was enthusiastic about the work she was carrying out there. For some 15 or 16 years she would make an annual trip to Rwanda and in the last years of her life she always worked in the Burundi refugee camp in the southern part of the country. She left the European winter to go and work there, living in the missions, working in the clinics, helping the sick and driving the ambulance. The news about the genocide in Rwanda in 1994 was a terrible shock for her. She knew many people there and the mission where she used to work was destroyed. When at 85 years of age she could no longer make the journeys to Rwanda, she would spend almost all the time in a garage, sorting out second-hand clothing and medicines that were not yet expired, making up parcels to send.


			

				12	Godelieve then went to Bihar, also in India, and later to Bangladesh.


			


			When my father died my mother was 62. For some 15 to 20 years afterwards she continued to live in the enormous and isolated house in Meer, which had been bought by my father at the end of the Second World War. So she decided to sell the house and go to live in Brussels, in the neighbourhood of Montgomery Square. Although this was one of the districts of the well-to-do in that city, she lived in a small apartment in a residence for the elderly. With the other inhabitants, she organized the saying of the rosary every evening; and each year, when we were having a family reunion, she would ask me to celebrate a mass. Towards the end of her life she became very fragile and had difficulty in breathing. She did not want to live like that after such an intense life. She wanted to rest and even requested me to ask the Pope for permission to accelerate her death. She would ask me, “Why has God forgotten me?” She died soon afterwards, at 94 years of age. Her faith was strong, but she was open-minded. After the Vatican Council II, I abandoned the use of the clerical collar. For a long time I was criticized for this by some members of my family who thought I should at least wear a little cross. For them these accessories were a symbol of belonging and status. Nevertheless, my mother willingly accepted my decision.


			Even in situations that were difficult for her to swallow, she stood by her children and she was forbearing. The divorces of two of her children were inconceivable to her, but she never broke off her relations with them, only showing them her disagreement. When one of my sisters decided to wed a man who had been married, the family did not accept it very well. My mother did not want to receive them until he had divorced his previous wife. However when in the end the two decided on a civil marriage, she made a huge effort to take part in the ceremony. Her health had greatly deteriorated but she wanted to show her solidarity.


			Childhood and Early Education


			I was born in Brussels on 7 March 1925, the firstborn of the family. When I was four or five years old my greatest dream was to be an engineer in a factory of locomotives, mainly to be able to paint them. I never went to primary school; my parents chose to keep their children at home. We lived for two years in Knokke, a coastal area where there were not many schools nearby. Then we moved to Gaesbeek, in Flanders, to a small 16th century castle the property of my grandfather, some 15 kilometres from Brussels, so that it was also difficult to attend school every day where the classes were in French. My mother taught me French, mathematics, history, geography and –sometimes with the help of teachers, and then I sat for examinations in the Jesuit College in Brussels.


			On New Year’s Day every year the whole family travelled to Brussels to visit the grandparents, but they also visited the Papal Nuncio to give him our best wishes. Monsignor Clemente Micara,13 famous for his magnificence, was succeeded by another nuncio, called Fernando Cento, who became a cardinal in 1958.14 Cento talked in a literary way. He spoke Italian very well but his French was poor. When he spoke he made many mistakes which were the cause of much mirth. On one of these visits, my mother presented all her children to the nuncio, who said in French, “One can see that they are all cast in the same mould”. The word moulde in French can be either masculine or feminine. If pronounced as masculine the word does indeed mean mould, but he put it in the feminine and we started to laugh. So instead of saying that we were all cast in the same mould, he said that clearly we were all coming out of the same mussel. 


			

				13	He was invested Cardinal in 1946 and died in 1965.


				

					14	Fernando Cento. He was invested Cardinal in 1958 and he died in 1973.


				


			


			When we lived in Knokke, near the sea, sometimes my parents would go out in the evening, leaving my smaller brothers and sisters in the care of Lilian Baels, the daughter of the governor of Western Flanders. I only visited her house a couple of times, because I was the oldest, but all of us knew her well. At the time she was 18 or 19 years old. Because of her father’s responsibilities she met King Leopold III15 before he was arrested by the Germans during the Second World War. The king fell in love with her and since she was a young girl who did not belong to the aristocracy, this became one of the great socio-political problems of the period. In the middle of the war, the king married Lilian. He was a prisoner of the Germans  in the Palace of Laeken, so he could not leave it to attend a civil wedding. The cardinal then married them in a religious ceremony, which was against the law that gave priority to the civil wedding. For having made this exception for the king, he was strongly criticized by society. However, in the 1940s there was a very strong link between the royal family and the Church.


			

				15	Leopold III (1901-1983) was King of Belgium from 1934. He abdicated the throne in favour of his eldest son, Baudouin.


			


			I finished my primary schooling two years earlier and went to the Jesuit middle school in Brussels at the age of ten. It was not a good idea to start secondary schooling so young so I had to repeat one course because I was not at the same level as the others. I had to leave home very early in the morning to get to the school and walk two kilometres –which took nearly half an hour– to catch a tram that took about an hour to reach Brussels. Then I had to walk for ten minutes to the school.


			I had a good teacher, Father Jean Marie de Buck, S.J., an excellent writer who had authored many books on adolescence and novels that had had great success at that time. He was a progressive intellectual and through literature he introduced us to social issues. It was he who first put me in touch with the Young Catholic Workers movement (YCW), which later played an important part in my life. My companions and I were always very interested in what he taught us during his lessons.


			At ten years old I already wanted to be a missionary. I did not say so then, but I certainly was very much convinced at the end of my secondary studies, although I had not been able to travel much because of the war. In fact there was no other kind of recreational activities. I began getting involved in the work of the Jesuit missions. I kept up a regular correspondence with a Belgian missionary of that order, who worked with the indigenous people in Bihar, India. I was very soon in touch with the San Vicente de Paul Conference, to which my mother belonged. Its approach was very paternalistic but it enabled me to discover a reality that I had never known before.


			Most of my vacations since I was 13, I went camping with the scouts; during the short holidays at Christmas and then the ‘great camp’ that took place in the summer in the Belgian part of the Ardennes. The ‘great camp’ lasted one or two marvellous weeks: we played games in the fields during the day and at night we sang songs. For me it was a way of escaping for a while from my family, who were very strict. My father would not allow participation in any other activities but agreed to my joining these scouts because this particular troop was a prestigious one. It was called the ‘Lones’, which meant the isolated ones. Its members were young men who lived outside Brussels and could not meet every week, as the other scout troops did, but only once or twice a month.


			There were various kinds of scouts, both Catholic and other non-denominational ones. Ours was a special federation of Catholic scouts and we had a very nice chaplain who belonged to a missionary group but his health prevented him from going abroad as a missionary. During the war when so many other activities ceased, the scouts never stopped functioning. I became the head of a patrol and then assistant of the troop, which was a very interesting experience. We were all very patriotic against the German occupation. This training was therefore positive because it was rigorous but also quite open-minded.


			Having been a Catholic scout was important for me; besides helping to educate young people in values and commitment, it was a very concrete way of living  religion without false devotion or mysticism, but very down to earth which was appropriate for our age. Our religious ceremonies were wonderful; although they represented a rather romantic vision, they were a real experience. And in the camps we celebrated mass in a different way, in keeping with the surroundings. That was when I developed the idea of greater informality in religious rites.


			Social, Ethical and Cultural Values


			My maternal grandfather wrote a book entitled The Bourgeois Virtues that considered the values of human beings in this social context. There was a strong concept of the importance of the family in our household. This was reflected in our domestic style of life: my father, for example, wanted us all to accompany him every Sunday on a walk through the woods. For all the children, and me in particular, this was very inconvenient because we would have much preferred to go out with our friends or with the scouts. But we had to obey him. He assisted the boys at school and saw that we had done our homework. We could not end the day unless we had carried out our duties. My mother visited the Jesuit school to follow our studies and my father, in spite of his professional commitments, sometimes went there too. The family was certainly concerned about us and our relationships were very close. However this also tended to create a kind of family ghetto.


			The ideal of belonging to a nation, to a religion and the history of our own heritage as those who serve the country, particularly in time of war: all these ideals were deeply rooted in our family. In general we were aware of belonging to a group who had to be responsible for society and it was necessary to be faithful to such responsibilities.


			Before the war, when we were outside the city in Gaesbeek, we developed relationships with the neighbouring peasants. My family had a hectare of land with a garden and we had to work on it, even growing vegetables. Often we would also cooperate with our peasant neighbours in agricultural activities and even more with the livestock; we fed the cows, organized the milking, and looked after the horses. This was always done with great respect for nature and thus we assimilated its importance and the need to be in contact with it.


			In the field of politics there was also much respect for public responsibilities and it was a question of pride to take them on, not as a way of earning money, but for civic duty. Obviously, official positions came with a salary; but due to the economic situation of the bourgeoisie –which was mostly the class that undertook them– the fact that these tasks were remunerated was irrelevant. There was a deeply entrenched belief in duty, which was considered normal at this social level. It was believed that we had to be the ‘elite of society’ but elite with obligations and a certain sense of service to others. This was typical of the bourgeois conception of society that was quite ignorant of social relations and their origins.


			We had a radio in the house and my father was very proud of the fact that it had been made in Austria, which was technically more advanced in this field. He always tuned in to Radio London to listen to news of the war, as well as classical music. My father loved this kind of music, preferring Bach to Mozart, but he also listened to the Lent sermon in the cathedral of Notre Dame in Paris and insisted that we did so too, which was quite an ordeal for us. I had bought at a bargain price, with money that my mother had secretly given me, a gramophone and some records of classical music. My first preference in this kind of music was Beethoven: Romance in F Major, the Third Concert for Piano and the Ninth Symphony. I also listened to more recent works, like the Joan of Arc opera of Paul Claudel and Paul Hindemith,16 whose music was very modern and I found it most interesting.


			

				16	Paul Hindemith (1909-1986). Composer and director of German orchestras.


			


			For ethical reasons, during the foreign occupation we did not go to parties and dances and the like. In the Fine Arts building in Brussels there were concerts called The Young Musicians and since my father also liked this music, he paid my subscription. He was very demanding and home-loving had a very strong sense of domestic life so that when I and my brothers and sisters were growing up, he always wanted us to stay at home and not go out. We felt this to be very reactionary and as I was the oldest I had to fight my father on behalf of all the children. My mother was the mediator, because sometimes my father was really intransigent. I never had a penny, either in the secondary school or in the seminary, because my father did not give us any pocket money. This created problems for me, for example when I had to buy books. My mother was the one who gave me something, but without my father knowing it.


			My father’s ideas about education were much more conservative than those of my maternal grandfather who, on the contrary, was much more open-minded. I was very grateful for that. The grandparents came to our house or we visited them in Brussels. In vacation time I was always with my grandparents who had a summerhouse near the Meuse, in Hastière. It was very exciting for me because all cousins got together to walk and to fish in the river and other such activities. The links with the rest of the family were rather regular; we had very good relationships with our uncles, aunts and cousins.


			My Inclination for the Priesthood


			My family was also very religious. Every evening, before going to bed we would pray together and every Sunday we would go to mass. We found this quite natural; it was never an imposition for us. Since I was very young I very much enjoyed participating in religious ceremonies, above all as an altar boy. I liked the liturgies, the prayers, the meditation. I felt something really mystical in them that greatly attracted me. In spite of the fact it was not the main motive for wanting to be a priest, it did have its importance when the time came to make a decision.


			At the age of 11 and 12 I had a very large photo of Pope Pius XI17 in my room. I did not know exactly who he was but what impressed me was his missionary concern. So, when I was young I spent a lot of time selling missionary calendars. I would go from house on my bicycle to house near Gaesbeek, in the Flemish region. The money I received was divided partly for the general fund of the missions and partly for the work that was being done for the missions in school.


			

				17	He was Pope from 1922 until his death in 1939.


			


			In the school, during my secondary studies, we were taught religion by Jesuits. It was a very classic method of teaching but I did not reject this kind of religious education because in general it was quite reasonable. Daily participation in the mass was obligatory, which resulted in the present atheism of many of my companions of the period. But I was very much inclined towards participating in the religious services, sacred music and praying. In the last years of my secondary schooling I used to go to mass every morning, especially that celebrated by Father Jean Marie de Buck, S.J.. It meant quite an effort on my part as I had to leave home about seven in the morning but I enjoyed it.


			When I entered the seminary I did not do so with the idea of assuming a religious life –this was already in my mind, though– but to accomplish a task: that of the missions, to put myself at the service of what we today call “the search for justice” in far-away regions that did not know Christianity. I discovered this motivation with my secondary school professor and my grandfather, who always fought social injustice and who decided to become involved in politics that were based on religious, Christian principles. Since I was young I saw in Christ a divine being who expressed God’s magnanimity towards mankind.


			There were no other priests in my immediate family circle. My grandfather’s brother was a priest in England but I felt this was a rather far away reference. Also there was one of my mother’s cousins, Étienne Carton de Wiart,18 who was the auxiliary Bishop of Malines at the time that I entered the seminary. However, although he had made various visits to our house, I did not know him well. 


			

				18	Priest in the archdiocese of Malinas (Belgium) and cousin of Gudule Carton de Wiart, he became the auxiliary Bishop in the same diocese and then Bishop of Tournai. There he took up the defence of the workers when the traditional coal and steel industries started to be dismantled.


			


		


		

			Chapter II Catholic and Pastoral Training


			The Second World War


			War came to Belgium on 10 May 1940. Four or five days later almost all the family moved to Normandy. My mother had just given birth a few days earlier and we were already eleven children; we needed two cars to take us to France. My father took us only as far as the French city of Lille –as my father, because of his profession and my uncle, governor of Brabant had to remain in Belgium– and there we met with an aunt and two cousins. Between the two families there were thirteen children –I at fifteen was the leader of the pack– and two women.


			In spite of the German bombing during the journey, we managed to reach Normandy without problems. We moved into the summer residence of the French General Leclerc.1 The house was empty, we never saw the owner there, but we did see the Germans who arrived a few days after our arrival. We stayed there two months and then returned to Belgium.


			

				1	His real name was Philippe François Marie de Hauteclocque (1902-1947). He tried to obtain a political solution for the Vietnam War. He died in a plane accident in Algeria and was posthumously designated Marshal of France.


			


			During the war many activities came to a halt, but my father always found work. My mother was busy with the household. It was difficult then to ensure food for so many children even for people with means. I remember we sometimes had to go out into the fields to buy wheat and potatoes.


			During the German occupation we left Gaesbeek and returned to Brussels. My mother made great efforts to provide food for the family, but she also looked after other people. My father did too; they did not hesitate to give hospitality to persecuted Jews, which was a very dangerous thing to do. They thought it was their duty to hide them and we took in whole Jewish families for months in the basement of the house in Brussels, which had small windows in the front and large ones at the back. For this my mother received the title of ‘The Just’2 by the Israeli Government and when she died, its ambassador was present at her funeral.


			

				2	Those who had helped to save Jews during the Nazi occupation were given the title of ‘The Just’ by the Government of Israel, and a tree was planted in the desert in their memory.


			


			During and after the German occupation, my brothers and I with some school friends did a lot of things against the German soldiers. In the tram that we used to take each day to go to school, surreptitiously we used razors to cut off the buttons and make holes in the uniforms of the Germans around us. The officers carried behind them a small sabre held by a braid with metallic thread and the best thing to do –the most difficult though– was to cut it without them noticing. Once, an officer realized what had happened but did not know who had done it. Immediately, to remove the proof, I got rid of my razor. However, at the next stop at the Royal Square in Brussels, he ordered me to come with him and he took me to the General Falkenhausen’s headquarters, head of the military government in Belgium during the occupation. I still had uniform buttons in my pocket and did not know what to do because they were made of metal and they would jingle if they were thrown to the ground. 


			When we entered, the two soldiers who were standing guard presented arms to the officer and I took advantage of this to drop the buttons. The officer asked other soldiers to search me thoroughly, down to the smallest seams. He became irritated and finally said that what he was looking for was the braid of his sabre. When they looked in one pocket they thought they had found something, but it was only my rosary. As they had no evidence against me they had to let me go.


			The following week we met with the same officer on the tram. Of course I stayed very quiet but when we reached the Luxembourg station stop he told me to get off. He took my satchel and extracted an exercise book in which I had painted the English and Belgian flags and symbols hostile to the occupation. The following day the Gestapo came to the school to find me. They took me to an office and started to interrogate me in the presence of the officer. In the end they asked him: “Are you sure it was him? Because there were other youngsters too”. They decided to look for the others, including, my younger brother. They interrogated them as well, but we all indicated the same respective location in the tram, contrary to the officer’s testimony. Finally the Gestapo official did not believe the officer, arguing that it was the testimony of four against one.


			In the meantime, my parents, who had been warned by the school, immediately turned up on the scene. They arrived at the moment when they were taking my brother away. They stopped their car in front of the Gestapo car and asked where they were taking their son. The Gestapo replied that they were taking him to be interrogated. Although my father did not know where they were going, he could turn his car around to follow them. As it was nearby he reached there a few minutes after my brother’s arrival. The Germans were very surprised because they had not given the address of their office and thought that my parents had information about them. They said, “We will interrogate them and later we shall set them free”. I was then fifteen years old and my brother, twelve.


			Entering the Seminary


			In 1943 I finished my secondary schooling. The Jesuits invited me to join them, but I set one condition: that I would be sent on a mission abroad. They were honest, saying, “We cannot guarantee it. You have to be obedient and do what you are told. It could be that you go on missions, but it could be that you stay in a college here”. What interested me were the missions and, in particular, a fairly new organization called Société Auxiliaire des Missions (SAM) which placed missionaries at the service of indigenous Bishops.


			The SAM was founded by a very well known Belgian priest, Father Lebbe,3 who was a real innovator. It was at the time of the episcopal consecration of the first Chinese Bishops and then –already under Pius XI and Pius XII–4 local Bishops in Asia and Africa. It was not a religious congregation but rather a missionary association of priests who went to serve these local Bishops. In fact, the chaplain of my scout group belonged to this organization and I was impressed by his spirit and very much interested his work.


			

				3	Vincent Lebbe (1877-1940). Was a missionary in China who founded the first Catholic periodical there and fought for the constitution of a Chinese episcopate. He was imprisoned by the Maoist army and died shortly after being liberated.


				

					4	Pious XII. He was originally registered as Eugenio Maria Giuseppe Giovanni Pacelli (Italy, 1876-1958); he became Cardinal Pacelli and later Pope from 1939 until his death.


				


			


			My father did not agree. While he totally accepted my becoming a priest he did not wish me to work with the missions. He used to say that he was getting old; that I was the oldest of his many children and that therefore I should stay with the family. I did not accept his argument. Perhaps he had another reason, which was that this missionary organization did not have the social prestige of the classic religious orders. If I had gone to the Jesuits or the Benedictines my father would have probably been delighted. 


			I felt rather disconcerted and went to consult with my mother’s cousin, Monsignor Étienne Carton de Wiart. I did not go to see him only because he was a relative, but because he was a very open-minded man who, though he had died young, at an early age had taken up very advanced social positions when he became Bishop of Tournai. He said to me, “Well, why don’t you come to the seminary of Malines? This seminary provides good training and after six years of studies you can choose a missionary path”. My family was completely in agreement and I was very happy. So, at 18 years, I entered the seminary at Malines. We were then over a hundred of us taking the first year of studies. These days the Brussels seminary is closed for lack of candidates.


			Five days after entering the seminary it was said that the Germans would come to recruit us to work in their factories to replace their soldiers at the front. So the seminary authorities decided to send us away immediately. We had classes only two or three times a week. So as not to draw the attention of the Germans we had our lessons outside the seminary, in Catholic hospitals, in secondary schools. In this way we were able to continue our studies.


			As it was too dangerous for me to return home, I went to live for some months in Brussels with my maternal grandparents, which was very interesting for me because of their political and social activities. As a child I remember reading some religious literature, the stories of the saints and texts of the same kind because of their style of writing. Naturally, I also read Tintin!5 However, my stay with my grandfather encouraged me to read much more. Then, in the seminary, I started to read books with more of a social content, such as the novel by Maxence Van der Meersch,6 Fishers of Men, about a young member of the YCW (Young Christian Workers) in the factories of northern France, which made a big impression on me. 


			

				5	Tintin, a fictitious Belgian reporter, was created in 1929 and his stories became a classic in the French language. His adventures, although fictional, were based on real-life documents and expressed ideological values linked to pacifism and tolerance, typical bourgeois positions; but some felt that they sometimes supported racism, anti-communism and Belgian colonialism.


				

					6	Maxence Van der Meersch (1907-1951). He was a lawyer who wrote novels that described the situation of the French working people.


				


			


			The Resistance


			After I had stayed some months with my grandfather, I returned to the house at Gaesbeek. I then joined the resistance in the Armée Secrète. There were two Belgian resistance movements: one was the communist one, linked to the clandestine Communist Party, and the other was the Secret Army, which was founded and run by former officers in the Belgian Army. As could be imagined, I said nothing to my parents.


			In the resistance I began participating in guerrilla operations. We had arms, which came to us from England and were dropped by parachute. We were informed in code by radio, what was to be the night, the hour and place, and what the contents would be. The arms were kept in an isolated farm, a few kilometres from where I lived.


			On 21 June of 1944, two weeks after the landing in Normandy, we received an order to destroy the railway line. The Germans had transported many troops towards the sea as they thought that the landing would also take place in the area close to the Belgian coast. Many troops and much equipment were arriving by train. The English had already bombed the railway line from Brussels to the port of Ostend, in a place where the two lines that joined the cities passed within 500 metres of one another, across the river Dender. They had succeeded in destroying one of the bridges, but failed to knock the other one out. So they asked us to dynamite it. 


			One night we left on bicycles from the isolated farm. We had to cover 15 to 20 kilometres without lights along rough tracks that were not asphalted and every so often someone fell off their bike. I was carrying the dynamite and the cables to detonate it. We reached the bridge that, as it was close to the railway station that was occupied by the German military, was not guarded. We spent the night listening to the conversations of the soldiers and we got ready to place the dynamite. We had very little, only 11 kilos, to blow up a large four-lane bridge. We had to be economical with the little dynamite we had, putting it just in key places. We had an expert with us but even so the job took almost four hours.


			I was somewhat separated from the others to see that no one approached us. We also had the order not to derail the trains because they also carried civilians. Often steam-propelled trains would go by. Sometimes a burning coal would fall and we were frightened that it, rather than our detonator, would explode the dynamite. When the job was finished, our commander told us to light the fuses. Just when we were doing so, a train came along. We had to wait for several minutes for the explosion and we did not know whether the train would blow up or not. With the commander, I waited in hope, while the others ran off with the guide. Finally the bridge exploded and thus the train was derailed. Of course our commander told us to flee and we hurried away on our bicycles.


			Going back, this time without a guide along the tracks, we had to cross through the local town. The explosion had made a great noise and in some streets the windows of the houses had shattered. I was behind the others because underneath me were the remains of our materials and in my hand I had a large 9 mm revolver. We had to pass some police, but fortunately they were Belgians and the commander shouted, “Don’t shoot!” and there were no shots although both we and they were armed. We continued hastily until we came to a field of wheat already half-grown; there we stopped to rest, because we were absolutely exhausted for so much running around. When we hurried on we met a peasant patrol who was guarding the fields to ensure that the harvests were not set alight. They had home-made arms, while we had revolvers, and they were really frightened. We persuaded them that if they were asked whether we had passed there, not to say anything, because it would be very dangerous for them to speak about seeing us. 


			After we got going again we suddenly saw a light and immediately reached for our revolvers. But it was only a little lamp in front of the statue of the Sacred Heart in a little rural chapel. It was celebrating the month of the Sacred Heart, which is in June.


			At the end of the offensive, when our allies arrived, at the end of July/beginning of August 1944, we had the job of rounding up and making prisoners of the last Germans who were scattered around the region. I remember one night, with my gun at the ready, entering a farm building where there were 20 or 25 German soldiers. They shouted, “Terrorists!” We replied, “No!” We treated them respectfully, they did not try to defend themselves, but they were absolutely terrified. 


			Belgian patriotism is a fundamental belief in my family. Several of my uncles volunteered to fight in the war. One of them was killed while piloting an English plane against the Germans. My father had also been a volunteer in the First World War. It was natural that a family like ours should participate in the war as volunteers. Thus, my joining the resistance was above all part of our tradition to defend the country.


			End of the War


			When Belgium was liberated, in September 1944, I returned to the Malines seminary and was placed in the second year because of the classes we had taken before and those exams were taken into account. There were still many problems. For three months in a row there was bombing from the Germans, by V1 and V2 rockets, and Malines suffered greatly. It did not happen every day but frequently the bombs aimed at Brussels fell in our region. The seminary lost its glass windows.


			I have pleasant memories of this place, although of course we were shut away. It had a garden outside the town and two or three times a week we would go there. We only left the seminary at vacation time, so our parents had to come and visit us. Even during vacations we were forbidden to go to the cinema. To see a film about Schubert, I was given special permission.


			The seminary was situated beside the cathedral, which had a chime that sounded every hour, every half hour, every quarter of an hour and every seven minutes and a half. At the beginning I could not sleep but after three or four days I began to get used to it. We got up at 5:17 in the morning with the bell and then we meditated in the chapel for half an hour. After that there was mass and then breakfast. From 8 to 8:30 classes started that lasted until mid-day. Then there was studying time in the afternoon, during which we were given certain tasks. In the week we had to speak three days in French and three days in Flemish. Only on Sundays could we communicate in any language we liked. So the Francophone speakers had to speak to each other in Flemish and the Flemish speakers with each other in French. 


			During dinner there was a collective reading of religious history and we were not allowed to talk. I was often the reader and sometimes I invented impossible things that were not in the text, and everyone laughed. At night-time we recited a short prayer together. We had to retire to bed at 10 p.m. As all our daily activities ended at 9, we had a free hour, but we had to keep silent. We were not allowed to listen to the radio or read the press. However each week the director gave us a summary of the news; if there was some important news item he would communicate it.


			In the six years of study we took two courses in Philosophy and four courses in Theology, divided into Fundamental Theology, Ecclesiology, Liturgy and Church History.


			At that time there was little questioning of the Church as an institution. Luckily for us we had a history professor, Roger Aubert,7 who dedicated his theological post-doctoral thesis to Pius IX8 and the opposition of the Church in the 19th century against all modern ideas. He explained all this, the causes in their context and, finally, why in our time these attitudes were no longer held. Thus we developed a critical mind that was quite unusual in that period. When the professor completed his thesis I was in charge of delivering the congratulatory speech.


			

				7	Roger Aubert (1914-2009). Was a Belgian priest, historian and theologian, author of books on Pius IX and on the Vatican Council II.


				

					8	Pius IX was Pope from 1846 until his death in 1878.


				


			


			The curriculum included a course on Archaeology and another on Sacred Music. One day, an archaeology professor expounded the architecture of the cathedral of Malines, one of the largest in Belgium. He described the different periods of its construction very seriously. Curiously enough, with the utmost conviction and without a trace of humour he said that the oldest part of the tower was its base!


			In philosophy we had classes in Thomism from the original text in Latin, the History of Philosophy, Biology and Physics. Two or three classes were taught in French and Flemish, but they were considered only minor subjects. We had to take our exams in Latin, which I had learnt in my secondary schooling with the Jesuits. Each week there was a conference with some specialist invited to speak on scientific or literary themes –a little of everything.


			But the seminary included other activities besides teaching. Every morning in the chapel we meditated on a biblical text. Also, each day we would read the breviary, psalms and sacred texts, for at least three-quarters of an hour. These exercises imbued me with great spirituality and although performing them in Latin was not very appealing, it was a sign of belonging to the priesthood. In those times spirituality was expressed through a theological reading of Jesus, with the accent more on his being the Son of God rather than an historical actor. I absorbed this kind of spirituality without difficulty: it corresponded with my imaginary of that period.


			There was intense devotion to the Virgin Mary, which influenced me greatly. Not to Maria as a woman from Palestine, but as the Mother of God. Every time that something positive happened it was interpreted as the result of her protection and in moments of difficulty we always prayed to her. The celebration of Mary’s feast days in May was very important for me. When I read the note that I made at that time, I see what the Virgin Mary meant for me as a protector. I always organized the classroom that, like the other classrooms had a statue of the Virgin. Every two or three days I would look for fresh flowers to place around her to express my sincere devotion. When I learnt the marks that I received in that period I saw it as evidence that the Virgin Mary was indeed my protector. 


			After the years spent on Philosophy, we went –some 400 of  us– to another seminary in the centre of Malines for the course in Theology. In that period the diocese of that city was the largest in the world, containing over 800 parishes.


			At the end of the seminary I joined an association of priests called the Friends of Jesus, which had been founded by Cardinal Mercier, Archbishop of Malines.9 It was relatively strict. The secular clergy took no vow of poverty; for example, they could keep property inherited from their family. The Friends of Jesus, in addition to chastity and obedience to the Bishop that was incumbent on all priests, maintained the vow of poverty as well as one hour of meditation each day. Each year they also organized a retreat of at least one week, greatly inspired by the spirituality of St. Ignatius, founder of the Jesuits. It was agreed at that time that the association would remain secret so as not to give the impression of being an elitist group, close to the Bishop. Later on it abandoned this anonymity. Although I disliked the secrecy I was particularly attracted to the vow of poverty.


			

				9	Cardinal Désiré Joseph Mercier (1851-1926). During the First World War he opposed the German occupation of the country. He promoted neo-Thomism at the Catholic University of Louvain and also the «Malinas conversations» between Anglicans and Catholics.


			


			The vow of poverty entailed never having any property. If one received an inheritance it was to be given away immediately; one had to be content with the salary one received; and never to accumulate capital. In actual practice the result were only partial. It is easy to take a vow of individual poverty in religious communities, when collectively there is much wealth as well as security for life, which cannot be compared with the situation of the poor. But we did not think much about this. The vision we had of the Church at that time was very sacred and the Church was not part of the world, it had other standards. The dignitaries like the pope and the Bishops could not be questioned as they were the expression of the divine.


			Contacts with the Young Catholic Workers 


			Although I spent six years studying in the seminary, my deepest experience was during the vacations, with the Young Catholic Workers (YCW), which was the ‘pool’ of Christian trade unionism. I came into contact with it, as already mentioned, thanks to my college professor, the Jesuit Father de Buck, whom I much admired.


			The YCW was founded in 1925, after the First World War by Father Joseph Cardijn,10 who was a priest in the Malines diocese. He had studied social sciences at Louvain University and was to some extent influenced by Marxist practical ideas. He developed a very simple and effective method for the movement: see the situation, analyse it, make an ethical judgement of it and act accordingly. Many of the young workers could not read or write then, but they could all see, judge and act. It was indeed a brilliant maxim in the sense that it was a pedagogy that had been assimilated. In fact it was later taken up by other social movements.


			

				10	Monsignor Joseph Cardijn (Belgium, 1882-1967). He was a priest of the Diocese of Malinas who studied Social Sciences in Louvain. He participated in the Vatican Council II. Although politically a Social-Christian and an anticommunist, he was influenced to a certain extent by the practical ideas of Marxism. He founded the Young Catholic Workers, (YCW), and was appointed Cardinal.


			


			Strangely enough, and as an opposing formula, at the beginning of the 20th century more or less at the time that Christian trade unions were being constituted, a Christian peasant movement developed. However, this was usually done from above, i.e. organized by the clergy and local notables and not from below (by the peasants), with the idea of safeguarding the peasants from socialism. It was successful because the control of the Church in the rural areas was very strong. The Boerenbond (Peasant’s League) was created, consisting of cooperatives usually run by the parish priest and which served as an instrument to integrate small peasants socially into the capitalist system. It was economically so successful that at the present time its financial arm is one of the three or four pillars of Belgian capitalism. It is a large-scale provider of agricultural inputs and its bank, now autonomous, has investments all over the world. In contrast, the Christian workers had a more radical tradition. They entered into the struggle after the socialists and most times against them but they were also against capital.


			The YCW was Cardijn’s idea to give the worker’s movement autonomy vis-à-vis the Church and the Catholic world in general. I met him on various occasions in my YCW activities –he was then a monsignor and subsequently a cardinal. It is true that, at the end of his life, Cardijn was politically a Christian Democrat and anti-communist but he was always faithful to the worker’s struggle in general and the young workers in particular.


			Thanks to the YCW, I was involved in many activities during which I discovered a lot about the situation of the workers. I visited several factories and went down mines. While my experience in the resistance –among others– had influenced my social awareness, the YCW experience was fundamental. For me, religion was something normal. In my family we did not have much contact with atheists and those we knew were usually intellectuals and artists. Therefore, the contact with the reality of the worker’s lives shocked me greatly. In the YCW I learnt to share and discuss with other kinds of people. I dropped the image of the socialist as a devil. I wanted to be a priest because my interest was religious but at the same time I began to feel it was socially useful.


			In this period during vacations I took part in many meetings of YCW in Belgium and later on in other countries like Germany and England; but above all in France, where I often met worker priests who impressed me greatly. Through them, I discovered the reality of the working class in a very concrete way: after the war their situation was indeed very difficult. That was the time when Europe was trying to recover its industrial strength and working conditions were tough, with a high degree of exploitation and poor living, education, and health conditions. 


			In spite of my concern for the European working class I was also interested in the work of the missions. Thus I started to exchange correspondence with missionaries as well as seminarians and priests of different countries –not only from Europe but also from Latin America, Asia and Africa. Each week I would pin up extracts from their letters in public places in the seminary to encourage an international view among my fellow students. This correspondence interested people considerably because it was impossible to have more direct relationships, nor were there many journals or possibilities of acquiring knowledge about what was happening abroad.


			Soon after the war, together with two other seminarians, I went to Germany to get to know our German counterparts, particularly in Cologne and Berlin. We were enthusiastic about the spirit of reconciliation and peace. Quite accidentally, in Berlin we participated in a communist demonstration. We came out of the metro and were caught up in a march brandishing red flags. We were obliged to take part so as not to draw attention to ourselves. In those days it was still possible to go from one part of Germany to the other.


			During these years at the seminary, towards 1947, I came into contact with two young Polish priests, who were studying Theology in Rome. Because of visa problems, it was difficult for them to return to Poland for short holidays and so they would come to Belgium. In Rome they lodged in the Belgian college as there was no Polish college. One of them was Karol Wojtyla, who later became Pope John Paul II.11 In 1948 he spent the Easter and Christmas vacations in Malines. As we were already in correspondence it was I who received him. The other Pole later went as a volunteer priest to Brazil, where he remained. While they were in Belgium I arranged visits for them, especially with the YCW. We would attend its meetings and visit factories. The future pope, who was interested in languages, studied Flemish and I helped him a little in this task. We were friends all this time and even later.


			

				11	Karol Woytila (1920-2005). He was Pope from 1978 until his death. He was professor in Moral Theology at the Catholic University of Lublin; then Archbishop of Cracovia before being elected Pope, as successor to Paul VI. He was the first non-Italian pope since 1570 and his papacy lasted for a long time, 28 years. After Vatican Council II he started a conservative restoration movement in the Church and played a leading role in the combat against the communist bloc.


			


			The YCW was a youth movement that at the beginning, in 1925, as I explained earlier, served to form cadres for Christian trade unions. Interestingly enough in the mid-fifties, when the non-governmental development organizations began to emerge over much of Europe, their first leaders –French, Belgian, German, Dutch– were invariably former members of the YCW. This was natural enough because the association had very active contacts in the continents of the South.


			The difference between the YCW and the General Catholic Action was that the former was the Catholic action specialized in the world of workers. It started off as an organization of trade union youth and then the Catholic Student Youth (CSY), the Catholic University Youth (CUY) and the Catholic Agricultural Youth (CAY) were created. In contrast, the General Catholic Action, which was founded in Italy, claimed that there were no class differences and brought all the young people together in one movement. Cardijn always thought that there were different classes with identities, mentalities and interests of their own. The YCW experienced many difficulties until Pope Pius XI12 approved it as a movement of the Church, which was a very progressive move against the French Catholic employers who wanted to fund a Catholic association formed by employers and workers together. Pius XI also approved the ideas of Monsignor Liénard,13 Bishop of Lille, who defended the autonomy of the workers.


			

				12	Achille Ratti (1857-1939). He was Archbishop of Milan, an alpinist and an erudite historian. As Pope Pius XI he signed the Lateran Agreement with the Italian State for the creation of the Vatican State. He opposed Nazism and communism.


				

					13	Achille Liénart (1884-1963). As Bishop of Lille (France) he supported Christian trade unionism and especially Catholic Action. He played an important role at the Vatican Council II, in favour of liturgical and theological renewal.


				


			


			Not only was the YCW a school that helped me to discover social realities, it also taught me pedagogy. I had to work with young people, many of whom had little formal education, so that their cultural level was low –in the classic sense of the term. It was necessary to be very clear and practical and to develop an education that would enable them to understand and discover their world, also in its religious dimension.For example, in groups of ten to twelve young workers we analysed, the situation in the factories. We studied the logic of the whole process, and then made an ethical and social evaluation of it in order to take the best possible action. This experience trained me to always take into account the kind of public I was dealing with and helped me to understand how they thought. It was very useful for me in my later work in teaching and communication. 


			In 1949 when I was ordained priest it would have been normal for me to seek work in a parish in the diocese or in a college. Theoretically it would have been possible to enter a missionary religious order when I finished my studies, as I had thought of doing at the beginning. But in the meantime, I had discovered the extensive nature of YCW’s work and that gave me the idea of international evangelization. It was not essential to enter into a missionary congregation.


			For three months I worked in Brussels as a teacher in a secondary school, the College of St. Peter in the municipality of Jette, in a lower middle class neighbourhood. It was a pleasant experience but not very interesting for me, as I had other prospects in view. I was a colleague of Charles Moeller,14 the great connoisseur of modern literature, who taught at Louvain and participated as an expert at Vatican Council II. Finally he became the No. 2 in the Congregation for the Doctrine of the Faith (the former Holy Office) in Rome and he came back very disillusioned to die in miserable conditions in Belgium.


			

				14	Charles Moeller (1912-1986). A Belgian priest, professor at the Catholic University of Louvain, author of Siglo y Cristianismo (6 volumes), a monumental work on the literature of the 20th century. He was rector of the Ecumenical Institute of Jerusalem and one of the main editors of the Gaudium et Spes. He was an expert in the Vatican Council II.


			


			Working with the YCW was like carrying out a mission inside the country, as was proposed in the famous book France, Country of Missions. It was written by two priests, YCW chaplains –I knew one of them very well, Yves Daniel,15 because each time I went to Paris I would stay in his apartment. This book had a great influence on seminarists in the 1940s. It also had a great impact in Europe because it described the religious situation of the workers. While France was considered to be ‘the eldest sister of the Church’ those pages described the real state of affairs.


			

				15	Yves Daniel (1909-1986). Was chaplain to the French YCW, a worker priest and author of various works on catechism and religious sociology.


			


		




		

			Part Two The Beginnings of Critical, Social and Religious Thinking












			Chapter III Social Studies


			At the University


			I requested if I could follow social studies courses at the Catholic University of Louvain and my Bishop Cardinal Jozef-Ernest van Roey1 agreed. He was a very conservative man, but intelligent and a good theologian, with a certain independence vis-à-vis Rome, which was a traditional position among the Belgian episcopate. His attitude during the war was, however, criticized, although in fact he maintained a firm stand towards the Germans and had an indisputable authority. Later I got to know him better because, a few years afterwards, they appointed me as secretary of the Episcopal curia. Cardinal Van Roey had a vision of the future and did not hesitate to send priests to be trained in different disciplines, like the Social Sciences, Philosophy, Theology, etc. He wanted an educated clergy, partly because the Catholic University of Louvain was situated within his diocese. 


			

				1	Jozef Van Roey (1874-1961), Archbishop of Malines, who succeeded Cardinal Mercier. He resisted the German occupation.


			


			For three years, from 1949 to 1952, I studied political and social sciences. At that time these subjects formed part of the faculty of law, so that we had many courses of a legal nature: Penal Law, International Law, among other. All this was very interesting, but not for one who was more concerned with social action. However, the legal knowledge I acquired during those years was to be very useful to me some decades later when I was a member of the Permanent People’s Tribunal.2


			

				2	International tribunal of opinion, which judges violations of human rights. It was founded after the initiative of Italian senator Lelio Basso, a member of the Russell Tribunal for the United State’s war crimes in Vietnam. In fact, the People’s Permanent Tribunal is the successor of the Russell Tribunal. Since its foundation in 1979, this institution has held more than forty sessions on diverse matters, from violations of human and social rights in different periods and countries –as El Salvador, Guatemala, Eritrea, the Philippines, Sri Lanka, Iraq– to violations of International Law-Nicaragua, World Bank and IMF, multinational enterprises, etc. The basis of the trials, besides International Law, is the Declaration of Algiers on People’s Rights.


			


			Of course we also had courses in Political Economy, Contemporary Philosophy, Psychology, and Sociology. The only discipline I had difficulties with was Statistics! Our professor was a great economist but a poor teacher. I ended by learning everything off by heart. Sociology, however, was taught in close relationship with Philosophy. Canon Jacques Leclerc3 –a free-thinker who had studied at the University of Brussels before converting to Catholicism– introduced some interesting elements of US empirical sociology. Social Ethics and Natural Law were two other courses I studied with Professor Leclerc, as well as Sociology of Religion, although this subject was not very far advanced then. Canon Franz Grégoire4 taught us about contemporary ideologies: Nazism, existentialism and Marxism. His teaching helped us to overcome prejudices against Marxism, which was considered in Catholic circles as a purely ideological theory.


			

				3	Jacques Leclercq (1891-1971) was professor of moral philosophy at the Catholic University of Louvain, where he promoted Sociology.


				

					4	Franz Grégoire (1898-1977), Philosophy professor at the Catholic University of Louvain and author of a book on the sources of Karl Marx’s thinking.


				


			


			At this time I was a friend of Prince Charles of Luxembourg, whose brother became the Grand Duke. We were in the same year of studies in political science. Charles had asked me to tell him about the YCW and the French worker priests and wanted my assistance in getting to know some of them in order to help him understand this reality. In Paris we met with the worker priests –to whom he never introduced himself as a prince, but just as a Canadian student. He could pass as one as he had spent his youth during the war in Canada.


			Once I invited him to dinner with young workers in the YCW centre for delinquent youth in Brussels, where I was chaplain and I presented him also as a Canadian. As a group of them wished to immigrate to Canada, they started to talk about that country, which luckily he knew well and the dinner concluded by singing the Canadian national anthem.


			I had a little 125 cc motorcycle, which I used to take me round to my various commitments, including the journey between Louvain and Brussels. It was especially hard in winter; the temperatures were very low and I was still dressed in a cassock. One day Charles said to me, “I have kept my clothing from my days in the tank regiment during the Second World War; I am going to give it to you to keep you warm” (a few years earlier, at the end of the war he had enrolled in a British tank regiment). I used this equipment for two or three years and it was very useful as I had to move around making surveys and consulting archives in socialist municipalities and working-class neighbourhoods, where a cassock with a clerical collar would have been an obstacle. When I asked the Cardinal for permission to dress like a peasant, oddly enough he accepted –but on one condition. I was not supposed to go to the cinema! Thus I continued with my investigations and developed contacts with members of the socialist parties of various nationalities to whom, at that difficult period, I never did reveal that I was a priest.


			One day I visited Prince Charles in the chateau of the ducal family in Luxembourg and after that I only returned to see him two or three times. Unfortunately, the poor man died relatively young. He was a good person, rather sad and very shy but he was always open-minded. He realized that his social position prevented him from doing almost anything with his life.


			I was very interested in my university studies and received good marks. However, the link between theory and practice always concerned me most. During this period I was quite active in other fields. Although we as priests could stay at the Justus Lipsius College in Louvain, during most of the last two years I remained in the centre for delinquent youth working with them in Brussels and only going to classes from time to time. There were some courses I did not attend and once I had to sit an exam with a professor whom I had never seen. As all the professors were in a large hall I did not know to whom I should present myself!


			First Contacts with Urban Sociology


			I followed many excellent courses at Louvain, especially with Canon Jacques Leclerc, a great thinker and social philosopher, with whom I worked quite a lot. The social science building in Louvain-la-Neuve now bears his name. I was very attracted to Urban Sociology because studying the socio-religious history of Brussels had posed me a fundamental question: how is it possible that the working class could see Christianity as an enemy, given its message of human emancipation? 


			Historically, the Church was considered the enemy of the working class and I did not understand it. I had contacts with communist leaders in Belgium and France and the same problem was always posed: how is it that a priest can get interested in the workers? For the worker’s leaders it was a contradiction in terms. It was evident to them that the Church was allied with the bourgeoisie and that it formed part of it. This made an impression on me although I had not yet fully analyzed the situation. I believed that to understand it, it was imperative to study the processes of industrialization and urbanization. This was why I decided to concentrate the thesis for my Sociology degree on the evolution of the religious structures in the city of Brussels. My hypothesis was that the Church’s pastoral work had not been adequate for the working class.


			As there were no Urban Sociology studies at Louvain, I organized a private seminar with a few students interested in the subject who were preparing for degrees. I also started taking classes in the evenings and during vacations at the International Institute for Advanced Studies in Applied Urbanism, part of the St. Lucas Architectural School in Brussels. I was obliged to study the resistance of materials and other such subjects; but what interested me were the courses in social analysis that provided me with the methods and tools that helped to satisfy my desire to improve my understanding of Urban Sociology. 


			The co-founder of the Institute was the French architect Gastón Bardet5 –the great adversary of Le Corbusier– who was so brilliant that he ended by going mad. Exaggeratedly religious, he created a sect that announced the end of the world. On a certain date he went up a mountain in France to await this event, until he thought there had been a mistake in the date. However, he had developed a good method of social analysis of the city and I learnt and applied it in my research into the social history of Brussels, particularly in the history of the most important religious structures.


			

				5	Gaston Bardet (1907-1989) was chief architect of the Paris International Exhibition in 1937 and was against functional architecture. He opposed ecological destruction and the financing of the economy from a conservative viewpoint (he was close to Petainism) and he initiated an empirical method of urban social analysis. He dedicated the end of his life to writing on Christian spirituality as against Oriental currents of thought.


			


			I was in contact with the group of experts responsible for urban planning in Brussels, who had assigned me the task of studying the religious institutions. I began to work in the archives in the archbishop’s curia, as well as in those of all the parishes, the Royal Library, etc. I was able to show that it was precisely in the working-class districts, where logically there was the densest population that the Church had neglected to set up enough pastoral structures; while in bourgeois and middle-class neighbourhoods parishes had been created and churches had been built.


			I made a map of religious practice in Brussels in the 1950s, using the data collected for my professor of Religious Sociology, Father Ernest Collard. In the social scene of that time there were considerable differences. While in the bourgeois neighbourhoods there was a 50 % participation in the weekly mass, in the working-class districts attendance was less than 10 %. At the end of the 19th century, Brussels had received in 22 years 200,000 new inhabitants and no more parishes had been created at a time when the rural parishes in Wallonia were being re-institutionalized, the same ones as before the French Revolution. Thus, while in the bourgeois parishes the faithful numbered four to five thousand as an average, the population of the working-class neighbourhoods was from 10,000 to 40,000. The Church had not followed the urban development and still less had it dealt with the working-class population.


			I also discovered the social history of the city from the documents I consulted. The workers had to labour ten to twelve hours for seven days a week, without holidays. The first generation that had come from the countryside was very religious. On the great feast days of Easter and Christmas, the clergy had to listen to confessions up until midnight and they started again at 4 a.m., as the faithful began work early in the morning. It was quite unbelievable. Besides, it appeared that some priests who took the side of the workers experienced enormous difficulties with the Church hierarchy. A few of them even risked being excommunicated. But at the same time, the bourgeois culture inherited of the French Revolution was very anti-clerical. For example, my maternal great-grandfather, Théodor Verhaegen6 –a freemason– despite being a believer, founded the Free University of Brussels in opposition to the Catholic University of Louvain. Gradually, during the course of the 19th century part of the bourgeois class returned to the Church; doubtless for many of them, to find personal spirituality. But also to seek an elitist education of quality which the ecclesiastical institution was providing and which was useful for its social reproduction. The Church also mitigated the social reactions of the working class with charitable actions and schools for the poor. I published the results of this research and reflections on Urban and Religious Sociology in the book Les Paroisses de Bruxelles in 1955 and, later on, in La mentalidad religiosa en evolución en la ciudades, in Bogota in 1959.


			

				6	Theodor Verhaegen (1796-1862) was a lawyer and member of the liberal party. He was twice president of the Belgian Chamber of Deputies and Grand Master of the Masonic Lodge of Brussels.


			


			Although the subject of my thesis concerned Brussels, I was interested to know whether the situation was similar in other European cities. Using my YCW contacts I travelled to Paris, Vienna, Rome, Barcelona and Madrid in order to carry out the same kind of research. I noted the date on which each parish was created, its demographic evolution and compared the curves. Thus it was possible to verify that the situation in the other cities was similar, if not worse than in Brussels. In the working-class districts of Paris, for example, there were parishes with 80,000 inhabitants and pastoral care was insufficient. My idea was that sociology could, and should serve to analyse this situation, albeit in the spirit of “see, judge and act” to transform the practice of the Church in dealing with the problem.


			There were various conferences for the clergy in this period that I attended. At the beginning, when I showed them, parish by parish, the map of religious practice in Brussels there were very strong reactions. Some of the parish priests saw my work as a personal attack on themselves, as if the low level of religious practice was their fault. In fact, it was a social and not an individual phenomenon. But such reactions did not last long and the message began to get across. 


			I wrote some texts on the theme, supporting the idea that as well as pastoral work in each parish, special pastoral work should be developed for the working-class sectors. The period was very favourable; these studies also introduced me to urbanist circles and State and municipal administrations.


			While I was completing my university career in Louvain, there was a possibility of obtaining Fulbright scholarships to continue studies in the United States. J. William Fulbright7 was a US Democrat senator for Arkansas who, since the war, had created a scholarship programme for Europeans in order to build better links between the intellectuals of the old continent with the USA. These scholarships offered various choices of university and I selected Chicago because of my interest in Urban Sociology and Sociology of Religion, this city being universally famous for its Urban Sociology. I was lucky enough to be chosen.


			

				7	J. William Fulbright (1905-1995) opposed Senator Joseph McCarthy and his anti-communist campaign. He was also against the decision of President J.F. Kennedy to support the invasion of the Bay of Pigs in Cuba.


			


			It was after my return from the United States that I sat for my last examinations in urbanism. Each academic year of the Institute they paid tribute to the person who had made the greatest contribution to this discipline. It so happened that the year of my graduation, my uncle Baron Albert Houtart was so honoured. As governor of Brabant he was very interested in urbanism and it was he who inspired the first Belgian law on territorial planning.


		


		

			Chapter IV: First Encounters with US Society


			A New Country, a New World


			As a child I had made several journeys with my mother who had a sister living in France. She was married to a surgeon, Dr. Marcel Ombredanne,1 inventor of the Ombredanne Mask for prolonged use of anaesthetics. After the war, during the seminary and while I was studying in Louvain, through my YCW activities I also visited France, Germany and other European countries a number of times. Once, a friend took me by car to Rome when Pius XII was Pope, in the Holy Year of 1950. All this travel was in Western Europe but in 1952 I crossed the Atlantic for the first time for my stay in the United States. It was the only time I made the crossing by ship.


			

				1	Marcel Ombredanne (1900-1969), a French surgeon and ENT specialist.


			


			I embarked at Rotterdam. For two days we had very bad weather. There was much luxury aboard, extraordinary meals that lasted for four hours. I remember that one day they announced a particularly attractive menu and all the passengers assembled in the restaurant. But the weather was execrable and as the dishes took a long time to serve, the passengers disappeared, one by one, suffering from seasickness. At the end of the meal there was hardly anyone left at the tables. The journey took nine days. We reached New York at night-time but the ship stopped before disembarking until the following morning. We were very close to the Statue of Liberty and we could see the skyscrapers and the lights of the cars.


			A Belgian friend who worked at IBM was to accommodate me, but I stayed only one day in the city. I took the train to Bloomington, Indiana because for one whole month, before starting classes at Chicago, we had to follow a programme introducing us to the history and culture of the United States at the University of Indiana.


			Bloomington was a small, charming town, with impressive lawns. We were 50 students from various parts of the world, following an excellent course on the country, its history, its politics, etc. I was interested in studying the cities, and through these lessons discovering the extent to which migration had been essential to the history of the United States in general, but also to the history of different cities. I thought it could be a factor influencing religious behaviour, so that during this month I studied all the relevant texts I could find in the library. I also made contact with the Catholic parish. At that time the mass was celebrated every day and I got to know some of the parishioners who invited me to their homes. It was a very pleasant and enriching experience, sharing with them. 


			The annual national conference of the university student movement, which brought together thousands from all US universities, was taking place at Bloomington. These huge meetings started with a prayer and a blessing but, as we were there during the priests’ vacation time, we saw no Catholic chaplain. They asked me to give the opening prayer, together with a Protestant minister. I participated in other meetings that also helped to introduce me to life in the United States. I was reading the works of Alexis de Tocqueville,2 who stressed the importance of the religious factor in American life. Gradually I came across more and more revealing details; it was a time of extraordinary discoveries and enchantment.


			

				2	Alexis de Tocqueville (1805-1859) was a French politician, serving at one time as minister of foreign affairs, as well as being a  diplomat. He analysed democracy in the United States in a study that became a classic. He took up an anti-slavery position.


			


			One day the foreign students went on an excursion to a national park where the houses of the first colonizers had been reconstructed. I was sitting next to a Japanese student who showed me a souvenir he had bought, an ashtray with a reproduction of one of these houses. I happened to look at the back and found the label ‘made in Japan’. The Japanese had not noticed it and he was quite disillusioned.


			There were three more weeks to go before the classes in Chicago started and I decided to travel to the south of the United States to know more about the country. I took a bus to Tennessee. First I stayed a day in the abbey of Thomas Merton,3 a famous Trappist monk, a great modern mystic who died electrocuted by a fan in Bangkok in 1968. I had read some of his works. It was in this same abbey that the Nicaraguan Ernesto Cardinal4 had entered but for health reasons he was not able to continue there. He became ordained as a priest in a seminary for those with a late vocation for priesthood in Colombia where much later I also gave some lectures. 


			

				3	Thomas Merton (1915-1968). Monk, poet and social activist of Australian origin, born in France. He entered the Benedictine Gethsemane monastery in Tennessee (USA) and he was concerned with inter-monastery dialogue. His best known book was his autobiography The Seven Storey Mountain.


				

					4	Ernesto Cardinal (1925- ) Nicaraguan theologian, poet, sculptor, writer, author of Evangelio de Solentiname (an island in Lake Cocibolca in Nicaragua). Minister of Culture in the first Sandinista government, he was later very critical of the policies of the Sandinista National Liberation Front (FSLN), particularly on the canal project.


				


			


			I continued the journey towards Atlanta and was very much struck by racial segregation, which I saw for the first time. I remember a discussion I had with an elderly black American who showed me the two cemeteries, one for the whites and one for the blacks. The degree of segregation astonished me. “As if after being buried we were not all of the same colour”, he told me. Then I went on to Little Rock, the town where there was to be a revolt on racial issues.


			My trip in buses to different places and discovering other environments made a strong impact on me. I went through Mississippi to Saint Louis, where there was a Catholic university, set up by a Jesuit who was my great-grandfather’s brother, the founder of the Free University of Brussels. There I was received by a priest, not very friendly, rather absent-minded and offhand. I explained who I was, which changed his attitude immediately. He accommodated me in the ‘Verhaegen Hall’ and I was able to stay there for several days without problems, accepted by the community. I then journeyed on to Chicago. When I reached this city, the Korean War was ending. It was considered a combat against communism in general; there were many activities related to what they called a ‘crusade’. I remember giving blood for the US soldiers.


			Urban Pastoral Work in Chicago


			The University was not far from the centre of the city. I looked for a parish where I could lodge. This was partly for economic reasons, partly for the opportunity to be introduced to urban pastoral activities in the United States. Through the YCW I had got to know, although not personally, a priest who was an assistant in a parish in south-east Chicago. We established friendly relationships and it was agreed that I stay in his parish. However, as he was on holidays, I had to wait for some days and he proposed that meanwhile I stayed a week in another parish in the south of the city.


			In that parish, in exactly eight days, I discovered another country, an extremely clerical America. The parish priest was called Rebedeau and his family originally came from the French part of Canada who, in the 18th century, were obliged by the English to emigrate to Lousiana. In those years, some of the Chicago priests considered themselves as princes and Rebedeau was one of them. In the dining room he ate at a separate table and had a special menu. One day he was ‘kind enough’ to invite me to his table and he started up a conversation during which he asked me whether Belgium was totally or partially occupied by the Soviets. He also said to me, “I had the great honour of dining with your great Marshal Foch”.5  Evidently he had confused Belgium with France. Total ignorance. During this week some youths in the Catholic school wrote messages on the notice board against this priest because he was very authoritarian. In his sermon the following Sunday he accused them of sacrilege and the whole congregation was terrified by his fury. Fortunately I did not have to spend more than eight days with him.


			

				5	Ferdinand Foch (1851-1929) was a marshal in the French army, chief commander of the allied forces during the First World War.


			


			Thus I left Father Rebedeau for my friend’s parish, which assisted about 5,000 inhabitants. The head of the parish was of Irish origin, a wonderful man, humble and kind. He had no Cadillac or Buick like his fellow priests who drove such cars as a sign of their status. He himself had only a Chevrolet and was viewed critically by the others who felt he was lowering his status. But the priest and his team of assistants, which included Bill Quinn, YCW chaplain from Chicago, were all very agreeable. Sharing things with them was great because it completely integrated me into the work of the parish, although they were aware that I had to go to the university.


			This parish was situated in a lower middle-class neighbourhood. Most of the inhabitants were Polish and the rest were Irish. Mass was celebrated every day, relatively early in the morning. The parish was considered advanced, not only from a social viewpoint, but also in its liturgy, catechism and other religious aspects. They had abandoned the black vestment for the mass that was celebrated for the dead as in all the other parishes and had returned to the colour corresponding to the different periods of the liturgy –white, green, etc. But, not seeing the priests in this church dressed in black, people would not know whether it was a mass for the dead or not. For this reason, before starting the mass it was necessary to say that it was being celebrated in the memory of Mr. or Mrs. So and So. The names were written out in the sacristy. One day I read out the names of a man and a woman listed there and announced that the mass would be dedicated to their memory. When I returned to the sacristy the parish priest corrected me; in fact it was a wedding anniversary and the couple had been standing in the front line before us!


			I spent many hours hearing confessions because at that time American Catholicism was still very puritanical and it was believed that to take communion it was always necessary to make one’s confession first. One Saturday a little boy came running in and approached me, saying, “Father, I stole a lorry, but I have returned it!” I had many contacts with youth groups, especially with members of gangs –although in those days they were not as violent as they later became. They were youths who were already stealing at the age of 13. Once a group came to tell me that that evening they were going to be attacked by another gang who used knives and they asked me if they could use what they call in French coup de poing américaine– knuckledusters. They accepted me and I had to deal with this kind of problem. I had bought a small second-hand Dodge in which, later on, I managed to go around the whole country, more than 40,000 kilometres. When they organized parties they invited me and always said, “Father you can leave your keys on your car because nothing will happen”. They were the ones who stole the cars. All that was really momentous. I still have the diary that I kept in Chicago, so I have a historical record of my work in the parish.


			North American Catholicism was, as I have already said, very clerical. To be a priest was to have authority over everyone and to be at the top of the social ladder. The faithful would do anything for him, saying, “Nothing is too good for father”. Everyone was at his service and no one could do anything against him. Living with the clergy, I saw how the priests were accepting such privileges. Their intentions were not bad but for those who were integrated into the system they considered that nothing was sufficient or too good for them. They considered that all this was quite natural. This upset me a lot because I did not share their concept of priesthood. It seemed shocking to me, sometimes bordering on the ridiculous.


			To reach the university I had to drive 11 kilometres along an avenue with lots of traffic lights. Although there were very strict laws about speeding, if one went a bit faster it was possible to pass through without stopping at any of them. One day there was a number of cars which, like mine, were exceeding the speed limit, not noticing there was a police car behind them. At a certain moment it flashed its headlights and we all had to stop. When the policeman opened my door and saw me with my clerical collar, he exclaimed, “Father!” I replied, “Yes, I am”. And he said, “As a penance you will recite ten Hail Marys”. The other had to pay 10 dollars! When I was going into the centre of the city, where it was impossible to find a place to park one’s car, I used to put mine in a prohibited place and leave my breviary in full vision through the windscreen. I never received a fine: the priests were privileged. Almost all the policemen were Irish and they were Catholics.


			The clergy in the U.S. were both traditional and modern at one and the same time. They lived like rich people. They had the latest TV models and playing golf each week was a clerical pastime. They had summer and winter holidays as well as other free days. They went to Florida and passed the time there without celebrating mass. They did not always read their breviary because an ecclesiastical rule exempted them if they had to travel more than 10 or 15 kilometres. This law dates from the time when the clergy made their pastoral visits on foot but now, with the cars, it was quite different. Also, I sometimes saw in the parishes the breviary being read by the priests in front of the television (only lowering the volume) because reading the breviary was considered an obligation. It was incredibly formal and I asked myself whether this was spirituality. I found this clergy rather unusual.


			Once I was invited, with all the clergy of Chicago, to celebrate the 25th anniversary of the tenure of Monsignor Bernard J. Sheil,6 an auxiliary Bishop who was very well known. He was social in a classic sense, a friend of the poor, organizing good works and the like. The celebration was in a big hotel in the city, with a meal and an orchestra. For the dessert, 50 waiters advanced, 25 on either side, bearing an ice cream concoction in the form of a Bishop’s mitre. Then the orchestra started up, playing Some day my prince will come from Walt Disney’s film of Snow White. I could hardly contain my laughter at the contradiction, but they were all very serious, reflecting to some extent the culture of North American Catholicism. They were kind, clerical, very rigid and formal.


			

				6	Bernard James Sheil (1888-1969) was a priest of Chicago who organized the local scout movement. He also founded the Sheil School of Social Studies in 1943. As auxilary Bishop he opposed the policies of Senator Joseph McCarthy.


			


			When I published my book on Catholicism in the USA, I did not dare cite in the text a quotation from Cardinal Francis Spellman,7 Archbishop of New York at that time and the top chaplain of the army: “Our Lord Jesus has inspired a new ‘way of life’, the American way of life, which we have a mission to extend the world over”. However, I did put it in a footnote. 


			

				7	Francis Spellman (1889-1967) worked as a young priest in the State department of the Holy See in Rome. In 1939 he was nominated national chaplain to the US armed forces. He was Archbishop of New York for 28 years.


			


			It was a time when the Catholics were in a minority in the country, to be a Catholic meant having the status of a secondary citizen. To be American meant being a Protestant so that the Catholics had to stress that they were promoting American values in order to be integrated and affirm themselves in the society. This only changed with the election of John Fitzgerald Kennedy,8 who was a Catholic. This striving to beat others in demonstrating American values affected everything, including religion. For example, the parish bulletins were talking a lot about money. “We received such and such an amount in last Sunday’s collection”; “We renovated part of the church and it cost so many dollars”, etc. These were the symbols of success in US society.


			

				8	President of the USA from 1961 until his assassination in 1963.


			


			Studies in Chicago


			At the University I attended classes in sociology and, particularly, Urban Sociology. I also went to the Divinity School, the school of the Protestant Churches, which gave lectures in the Sociology of Religion. There was a tradition of Thomist philosophy at the University of Chicago which was indeed curious. In fact it was said that it was a university founded by Baptists where atheistic professors taught Thomism. It was also the first place where nuclear fission was carried out –in fact the formula of the atomic bomb– and there was a museum on the campus dedicated to the subject.


			Nevertheless, even if I found the whole institution very interesting, I did not participate much in university life because I was more integrated into parish affairs, as well as working with a centre for foreign students called Crossroads. This was run by the International Women’s Auxiliary, a lay missionary organization of Belgian origin, to which my sister Godelieve belonged. I was chaplain there for a year. There were various meetings at the centre, above all with the students. Among the Asians I got to know was Ngô Dinh Diêm,9 brother of the Archbishop of Hué. Diêm regularly attended the mass that I was celebrating there.


			

				9	He was president of South Vietnam from 1955 to 1963. An ally of the United States, he was assassinated in 1963.


			


			The most significant part of my work was the making of a religious and historical map of the Chicago parishes, similar to the one I had done in Brussels. I studied the archives of the diocese and worked with the Chicago Planning Commission, the urbanistic service of the city. They were very interested in my work as this kind of research was totally new for them. Research had been made in the field of social, but not religious, history, nor of the establishment of the religious groups in the territory. They greatly stimulated me and made all the maps I used and subsequently published in my book on the sociological aspects of US Catholicism. Their technical expertise was excellent.


			I took as a departure point the date of the founding of each parish in Chicago and discovered that there were two types, territorial and national –Polish, Hungarian, German, Italian, etc.– corresponding to the various waves of immigration. I found that there were more than 250 parishes and half of them were national, belonging to the ethnic origin of the parishioners and not to the territory. It was clear that over the years there had been enormous changes. For example, the Germans who had installed themselves in the centre of the town, once they began to climb the economic and social ladder they moved to the northern periphery of the town and the others did likewise. Through the immigration and the lack of adaptation on the part of the ecclesiastical structures, one came across German parishes in Black neighbourhoods. I studied, group by group, their history and evolution as well as the industrial development of the city to find out where the first parishes and different immigrants were established.


			I discovered that, in Chicago, in contrast with Brussels, it was the working-class neighbourhoods that had the greatest number of religious institutions, especially parishes. I also found that in century of existence of the city there were never more than four or five thousand Catholics in each parish, even though there was a relatively large number of clergy. For the immigrants the priest represented the group’s natural leader, as he was the only intellectual. In this way the priests clearly identified with the immigrant groups and kept a watching brief on their situation, participating in social conflicts alongside the workers. They were never considered as class enemies.


			The migration factor was very important in US society, among other reasons because the first generations of immigrants hoped that, however difficult their situation, it would be better for their children. As there was genuine social mobility, their expectations were not altogether misplaced at that time. This was very beneficial for North American capitalism, as the waves of immigrants represented cheap labour, ready to undertake any work. It helped the building up of labour reserves and at the same time did not accentuate social struggle too much. Gradually I discovered the reality of Chicago society through this study. When I returned to Europe, I reported the results of this research in a book entitled Aspects Sociologiques du Catholicisme Américain, published in Paris in 1958.


			At the University I got to know Andrew Greely, a priest in the Chicago diocese and a sociologist. He worked at the National Opinion Research Center. In 1953 his university career was in danger due to a statistical error he had made in one of his researches. The colleague who was defending him asked me to intervene with the academic authorities and as a result he was allowed to remain, but he was never made professor. In fact Greely had another vocation; he was a brilliant writer and he produced some fifty novels, one of which was a bestseller, The Cardinal Sins. Years later I invited him to the Sociology of Religion International Conference in Montreal. It was not a happy contact as he clearly showed his belief in the superiority of North American empirical sociology over the contributions of his European colleagues.


			A Latin American Parenthesis: Cuba and Haiti


			One day I participated in a YCW meeting in Milwaukee, north of Chicago and I was lodged in a parish with Monsignor Luigi Ligutti,10 a US priest who was the observer of the Holy See at the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations in Rome. He had founded a Christian rural movement in the United States, inspired by the YCW method: see, judge and act. At night-time we talked together and I told him about my work, showing him the graphs and the maps, and he became enthusiastic about it. I saw that he was very interested in Latin America, where he had worked with peasant movements and was concerned about the situation of the Church and the future of religion.


			

				10	Luigi Ligutti (1895-1983) was a priest from the diocese of Des Moines (USA) who founded the Catholic Rural Life Conference and was later the observer of the Holy See to the UN Food and Agriculture Organization. In the United States he fought against corporations like Monsanto. He travelled intensively throughout the three continents of the Global South and was concerned about the food situation at the international level and about the destruction of peasant world. His contacts in the US helped him finance some studies, like the socioreligious research on Latin America and the book Nourrir les Hommes. He was an expert in the Vatican Council II.


			


			Latin America attracted me for different reasons. At the beginning of the 1950s an international YCW congress had been held in Brussels, during which I made contacts with Latin Americans. It was an extraordinary sight, the Heysel Stadium with some 80,000 participants from all round the world. Joseph Cardijn spoke, addressing the public in much the same way that Fidel Castro, the historical leader of the Cuban Revolution, was later to do. Also, in Louvain, I had been friendly with Miguel Vuscovic,11 an Argentinian priest of Croatian origin, who was received at the home of my parents while he was studying for his university exams.


			

				11	Miguel Vuskovic, a priest from the diocese of Cordoba (Argentina) who graduated in sociology from the Catholic University of Louvain and taught Sociology at the University of Cordoba.


			


			During the vacation of Holy Week in 1953 there was a YCW congress for Central America and the Caribbean, which was held in Cuba, taking the opportunity of the Easter holidays and of the celebration of the Cuban Catholic Action’s 25th anniversary, which was presided by Cardinal Arteaga y Betancourt. Monsignor Cardijn suggested that I participate and use the occasion to know Latin America and the YCW in that region. So I travelled to Miami where I took the plane for Cuba. 


			I was accommodated in the Jesuit college of Belén, where Fidel Castro had studied. I participated in both events, thus getting to know priests, YCW chaplains and leaders of various countries that I later contacted when I was finally able to organize a trip to Latin America. One day there was a curfew because there had been an attempted assassination of Batista, the president. The activities of the congress were interrupted and we had to spend the whole day in the College of Belén. 


			Cardijn was staying in the archbishop’s palace at Havana. One day, when I had a meeting with him, I went there and got lost. I took the wrong door and all at once I found myself in a very modern hairdressing salon, with furniture in the latest fashion. I remember Cardijn, when he was in this palace, got very indignant and exclaimed, “How these people are living! They don’t realize what is going to happen in the future!”


			Members of the Catholic University Association invited me to a meeting in the University of Havana, with some professors and Catholics, mostly progressive ones. I found out that they had carried out a sociological analysis of the religious situation of Catholics in Cuba. The results were very important to the Church because they showed that in many parts of the country, religious practice was at a very low level and there was a need for pastoral work.


			As I was interested in the theme of pastoral structures, I began to do research in Havana as I had done before in Europe and Chicago, and I saw that it was easy to collect information on the demographic evolution of the city and the dates when the parishes were established. I found out that there were 16 parishes, with an average of two priests for each parish –that is, 32 priests for doing pastoral work in a city that had a million inhabitants. Another discovery was that there were practically no catechism activities in the Cuban countryside. Havana was the first place in Latin America where I did this kind of research but later I could repeat it in other cities in the region. For the first time, I could make a comparison with Chicago and see all the differences.


			In the Catholic colleges of Havana there were more than 200 priests. A quick glance showed the social distribution of pastoral work, as it was the upper middle classes who could pay for private tuition. The YCW national chaplain in Cuba was a Jesuit who lived in the college of Belén but because of his responsibility he was working a lot with groups of young workers. He said that in this country the YCW provided more of a vocation for the priesthood than the college of Belén, which was a very elitist school and was chosen not so much for religious purposes than because it was a good place to train and socially reproduce the bourgeoisie.


			I participated, together with this YCW chaplain, in various meetings of young workers and was struck by the impoverishment of their social environment. Thus I discovered the two aspects of the Church: on one side, the archbishop’s palace with its beauty salon and on the other, the young Christian labourers who worked and lived in miserable conditions. I still have the photos of the marginalized neighbourhoods in the Havana of that era. I also remember that with Cardijn I visited a sugar refinery where the working conditions shocked us both.


			But this was only the first part of the journey, as I was invited to Haiti by the YCW adviser who was present at the congress. So, after eight days in Cuba, we flew to the capital, Port-au-Prince. There I was lodged in a seminary situated alongside the archbishop’s residence. Here, too, I discovered the country’s rural structures, the impact of the large US factories on the outskirts of Port-au-Prince, which was a small city of 150,000 at that time. I was not surprised by what I saw because I had known various Latin American students at Louvain, who had told me a lot about it. However, it was my first personal contact with the social reality and the local Church, which struck me forcefully.


			Haitian society was extremely unequal, with very poor neighbourhoods and a rich minority that was extremely opulent. I saw with my own eyes the exploitation of the local labour force by US capital, particularly in the pita plantations. Belgian and Canadian missionaries were very active there and the YCW, guided by a French priest, trained popular leaders who later played an important role in the workers movement and in Haitian political life.


			On my return to the USA I had a controversial exchange with an American Jesuit who had published, in a magazine for Catholic workers, an article that compared North American and European capitalism. He wrote that, whereas in the latter capitalism had been unbridled and terrible, in the former it was humane and the capitalism of the future. I replied with an article that described, based on my experience, the North American capitalism in Cuba and Haiti.


			Last Sojourns in the United States and Canada


			After the two weeks I spent in Cuba and Haiti, I flew to New Orleans. There I spent two days with a Jesuit friend, Father Joseph Fichter,12 who at that time was considered the leading figure in Catholic sociology in the United States. He was an extremely intelligent person, very American and a rigorous clergyman, who worked at the Catholic University. He had studied religious practice in New Orleans and we shared our experiences. He was disgusted because the Church had forbidden him to publish his book. There was a scandal among the clergy and the local hierarchy because its results showed that only 60 % of the Catholic population went to church on Sundays. It showed that everything was not perfect, counter to the triumphalism of the Catholics who were still in the phase of integrating the values of the country, trying to emphasize nationalism and money, as symbols of success in society, to prove that they were good Americans.


			

				12	Joseph Fichter (1908-1994), North American Jesuit, a specialist in the Sociology of Religion. He was a profess he was a professor at the Jesuit University of New Orleans and he carried out the first survey of Sunday church attendance in that city, the first to undertake such a study in the United States. He published the first volume of his findings on the Chicago parishes and was forbidden to publish the three remaining volumes.


			


			In the parish of Saint Galle,13 where I was staying in Chicago, the parish priest was very interested in modern religious art. He possessed some very beautiful candelabras, which he only displayed on feast days. Some years later, he came to my country and visited my father’s house. And he told me more about the candelabra, “Don’t tell anyone, but they were a present from Al Capone!”14 In Belgium, he bought some chalices made by an excellent artist called Colruyt.15


			

				13	Saint Galle was an Irish saint, a wandering monk in the 7th century. He founded the Benedictine monastery of Saint Gallen in Switzerland. His name was chosen for the parish in Chicago because the majority of the clergy in Chicago was of Irish origin, although most of the parishioners were of Polish origin.


				

					14	Al Capone (1899-1947) was a mafioso of Italian origin who organized prostitution in Chicago and illegal trade in alcohol and cigarettes during the prohibition period. He was considered a modern Robin Hood for his donations to charity organizations.


					

						15	Of the Colruyt family who came from the Flemish city of Halle, close to Brussels. One of the brothers in the 1950s converted family groceries into the biggest and cheapest supermarkets of the country. Another was a goldsmith, specialized in religious art and yet another was a secretary in the archbishopric of Malines.


					


				


			


			Another experience in the United States was in the Christmas holidays when I travelled to Washington for the inauguration of President Eisenhower.16 I was invited by a Belgian priest who taught at Fordham University and with whom I had already been in contact in Belgium concerning YCW matters. I was able to attend the ceremony in one of the offices of the Secretary of the State Department. What impressed us most was the official procession, very orderly and distinguished but with a mixture of things –the West Point cadets, a folkloric group, the Supreme Court judges, a clown on a monocycle– all very typical of the US style of doing things.


			

				16	Dwight D. Eisenhower (1890-1969) was the commander in chief in World War Two who received the surrender of the German troops and afterwards was elected president of the United States (1953-1957).


			


			When the elections were held I was chosen as a ballot official for the Democrat Party so that on the day of the election I was monitoring the voting process. It was the first time I had seen voting machines. However, I had to help people who did not know how to use them.


			At the end of the course in Chicago I obtained an extension of my scholarship to do a third term at the university. When it was finished I was invited to teach another term at the University of Montreal, thanks to one of their professors, Father Norbert Lacoste,17 who had been a colleague of mine in Louvain and had then taken a summer course in Chicago.


			

				17	Norbert Lacoste was a priest in the archdiocese of Montreal. He studied sociology with Professor Yves Urbain at the Catholic University of Louvain, specializing in Urban Sociology. He became professor at the University of Montreal


			


			When I was to leave Chicago I did not know what to do with the mass of my socio-religious research materials, especially the large maps made by the Chicago Planning Commission. I thought it best to leave them with the archbishop’s curia. I spoke with the general vicar, who was most impressed to see all the work and reacted like the good American he was: he asked how much it had cost. I said about 400 dollars and he immediately issued the order, “Prepare a cheque for 500 dollars for Father Houtart!” I was very surprised: 500 dollars was an enormous sum in those days.


			I travelled to Montreal via Detroit. Of course I made a stop to see the Niagara Falls on the US side of the border. That night I was expected in a convent in Toronto and I did not want to arrive too late. But before continuing the journey I had to eat something. I entered a cafeteria, which was very crowded. At one table there was a man sitting alone and I asked whether he would mind if I sat at this table. He was very pleasant and we started to talk. He told me that he was the sheriff of the town. “Here we get people from many nationalities and I have to say that in all my life I have never had a problem with a Belgian”, he said. We went on talking for a while and then I realized I had to go, so I excused myself and left. Halfway to Toronto I remembered that I had gone away without paying. On my arrival I sent the sheriff a dollar with a message. “You said you had never had a problem with a Belgian. And now you have! Please accept a dollar”. A few days later a card arrived from him, confirming that he had had to pay my bill.


			In Toronto I stayed for two days where I met the French philosopher Etienne Gilson.18 He was one of the great ones of that time: a classic Catholic and very conservative, but a distinguished intellectual. In Chicago he had attended some extracurricular courses with Jacques Maritain,19 another French Catholic philosopher who was much more open-minded. He inspired social Catholicism, which was quite influential in the southern cone of Latin America.


			

				18	Etienne Gilson (1884-1978) a French Thomist philosopher, a conservative Catholic who exercised considerable influence over the French Catholic Church and the political life of the country during the post-war period. He participated in the Foundation of the Pontifical Institute for Medieval Studies in Toronto.


				

					19	Jacques Maritain (1882-1973), French philosopher inspired by Thomism and the Church’s social doctrine, who had great influence on European Catholics after the Second World War. He was also influential among progressive Christians in Latin America in the 1950s.


				


			


			I stayed three months in Montreal, lodging in a parish and continuing my contacts with the local YCW. At the university I gave courses in Urban Sociology and Sociology of Religion and I started to carry out research, similar to that which I had done previously, on the parishes of Montreal. I did this with my colleague Father Lacoste who continued with the work in a much more elaborate form. I discovered Quebec society, still very Catholic, conservative and rural, although there was already a strong reaction against Catholicism among the students. A religious and cultural change was under way.


			During this period I also worked for the cardinal, Paul-Emile Léger,20 who was to play an important role in the Vatican Council II. He gave me some studies to do although he was not exactly enamoured by Sociology of Religion. But I also worked with a Bishop from Quebec who was very interested in the subject and who participated each year in the meetings of the International Conference for the Sociology of Religion (CISR).21 He asked me to make a survey in his diocese that was on the other side of the Saint Lawrence River, facing Montreal. I came to conclusions that were the very opposite of what he had expected. As there were bridges over the river half the people in his city worked in Montreal and although he thought he had built up his pastoral work on an absolutely independent basis, I showed that his diocese had no autonomy at all, neither cultural nor economic, from Montreal. I remember his reaction, “This is your sociology but I have another one”.


			

				20	Paul Emile Léger (1904-1991) was cardinal Archbishop of Montreal from 1950 to 1967. He was active during Vatican Council II, supporting those in favour of an opening of the Church.When he left the archdiocese he went to Africa to work in a leprosy centre.


				

					21	The International Conference for the Sociology of Religion was founded in 1952 by Canon Jacques Leclercq, professor at the Catholic University of Louvain. Its first meeting was held in the same year and the second one took place in 1953 in Breda (Netherlands), with the collaboration of Professor Georges Zeegers, director of the Institute for Socio-Religious Research of the Dutch Catholic Church. In 1953, at the third conference I was nominated secretary, a position I held for ten years. Every second year a conference was held (in Louvain, Florence, Barcelona, Yugoslavia). I was succeeded by Emile Pin, a French Jesuit, professor at the Pontifical Gregorian University in Rome. On the death of Professor Jacques Leclercq, Jean Labbens, professor of sociology at the University of Lyon, became president and he was succeeded by professor Bryan Wilson from England. In the 1990s, the secretariat returned to Louvain where it established close cooperation with the socio-religious journal Social Compass and between the two universities of Louvain (Leuven, the Flemish university and Louvain-la-Neuve, the Francophone university). 


				


			


			In Montreal I received an official letter from the United States –from the Senate if I remember correctly– to appear before the Un-American Activities Committee of Senator Joseph Raymond McCarthy.22 The University of Chicago had been one of the places that McCarthy had ordered to be investigated and many professors had been called for investigation by his committee. I did not reply and I never knew why they had summoned me. Perhaps because I had frequented left-wingers like Walter Reuther,23 president of the United Automobile Workers (UAW), or a socialist activist called Dorothy Day,24 who gave me several of the books she had written. She had founded a Catholic worker association, which was close to the workers and made a considerable impact on North American Catholicism of that period. I had also frequented another Catholic activist, Saul Alinsky,25 who had supported the stockyard workers of Chicago. He was a thinker whose philosophy was partly inspired by the YCW, but also by anarchism. I did not know much about him but at that time he was doing intellectual and social work that was very interesting. These were personalities in the US Catholic left and, as can be imagined, they were quite marginalized by the national Catholic community.


			

				22	Joseph Raymond McCarthy (1908-1957), US Senator in the 1950s who presided over the Senate Permanent Sub-Committee on Investigations which he used to hunt out those he considered communists. He was particularly against left-wing intellectuals: in the early 1950s the University of Chicago was considered to be one of their centres.


				

					23	Walter Reuther (1907-1970) an American labour union leader and an activist in the Democratic Party. He was president of the United Automobile Workers from 1946 to 1970.


					

						24	Dorothy Day (1897-1980) a militant anarchist who converted to Catholicism. She founded the Catholic Worker Movement and The Catholic Worker magazine to spread the Church’s social doctrine. She created a movement of houses of hospitality and farming communes. She opposed the sexual revolution of the 1970s. Pope John Paul II started her beatification cause and Pope Francis quoted her in his speech to the American Congress en 2015.


						

							25	Saul David Alinsky (1909-1972) was a Jewish intellectual from Chicago inspired by anarcho-unionism who helped the workers in the Union Stockyards to organize themselves and became known as a radical community organizer of the ‘have-nots’ all over the United States. Hillary Clinton wrote a (critical) thesis on him and his methodology, while he inspired the first presidential campaign of Barack Obama. 


						


					


				


			


			I had earned some money when I was professor in Montreal, where I was living for free in the parishes, much as I had done in the United States. I realized that with all my savings and the sale of my car I could fulfil the dream that I had been cherishing for some time already: to make a trip to Latin America. I wrote about this to the auxiliary Bishop of Malines, Leon Joseph Suenens,26 who later became a Cardinal.


			

				26	Leon Joseph Suenens (1904-1996) was a priest in the archdiocese of Malines, professor of philosophy and then vice-rector of the Catholic University of Louvain. He was nominated auxiliary Bishop by Cardinal van Roey in 1946 and succeeded him as Bishop in 1961. One of the four moderators of Vatican Council II, he played an important role in supporting the reformist wing of the Church. He was close to Dom Hélder Cámara, Archbishop of Recife (Brazil) and became Vice-President of CELAM (Latin American Episcopal Conference). He was enthusiastic about the Legion of Mary, a religious movement of Irish origin which promoted evangelization through home visits. After the Council, his proposal to decentralize ecclesiastical power to the episcopal conferences earned him the hostility of the Roman Curia and distanced him from Pope Paul VI. He was close to the charismatic Catholic movement in the United States and he participated in many meetings in that country, including the health cures promoted by that organization. He was very close to the Belgian royal family and the spirituality of King Baudouin.


			


			Monsignor Suenens supported me during my studies and when I chose to take the scholarship to the United States. When I received the scholarship I had received another attractive proposal. It was from a group that advocated spiritual retreats and its founder, Father Rostang,27 who was linked to the spirituality of Paray-le-Monial,28 asked me to join them. Suenens said, “You accepted the scholarship in the United States and you should take that”. It was just as well because this group later became dominated by fundamentalism.


			

				27	Father Rostang, a Jesuit, developed a method of spiritual retreats inspired by Saint Ignatius of Loyola, founder of the Jesuits, but adapted with the help of Margarita Maria Alacoque. It was spiritually rich but had fundamental tendencies which developed almost into sectarianism. He finally abandoned the priesthood and his Christian faith.


				

					28	It was said that here, in the XVII century, Christ appeared to the nun Margarita Maria Alacoque. This developed into the cult of the Sacred Heart of Jesus, which has now spread throughout the world. 


				


			


			Since the beginning of my travel to the US I used to send to Monsignor Suenens copies of the letter that I sent to my parents. Now my letter explained how much I would like to take advantage of my stay in this continent to visit the YCWs in the different countries of Latin America. If Suenens managed to get the permission of Cardinal Van Roey, it would be almost a miracle as the latter was not very concerned with international affairs. But, contrary to all expectations, the cardinal gave his agreement. 


			I still wanted to visit some parts of the United States, especially California, before leaving for Latin America. My friend Lacoste and I drove from Montreal to New York together with one of the youths who had been in the delinquent centre in Brussels and had immigrated to Canada, but had problems in adapting himself. Along the way, we were caught in a heavy snowstorm. Fortunately we were able to stop in a town and stay in the parish centre, before continuing the journey. I spent a few days in New York to complete my data on the evolution of the Catholic pastoral structures in that city in order to verify what I had found in Chicago.


			With Georges Schoeters,29 I crossed the United States, passing by Florida, New Mexico, etc. As I had some appointments in Los Angeles and San Francisco, we could not dilly dally on the way. One day we travelled 1,400 kilometres without stopping in order to see the Grand Canyon. It was quite a tough journey, encountering snow on our way. During the night, in a bend in the road, there was a wild horse that slept on its feet because the tarmac was so hot. We nearly hit him; luckily he was not looking at us and had no time to react. Finally we reached Los Angeles and then, San Francisco, where I stayed in a parish for two weeks to collect data for a study similar to those I had carried out in Chicago and New York. 


			

				29	Georges Schoeters (1930-1994) was born in Amberes and emigrated to Canada in the 1950s. He was one of the founders of the Quebec Liberation Front. Accused of having placed a bomb in Montreal he was extradited to Belgium and he requested political asylum in Sweden. He had great difficulty in adapting to the country and committed suicide at the age of 64.


			


			Thus my first visit to the United States ended, which had lasted a whole year. Later on I returned some fifty times for conferences, above all when the war of Vietnam was at the centre of attention, and to take part in political and religious meetings.
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